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ooV a lot off
places before deciding
to visit any properties..

Our 2006 annual report features some of Equity
Residential’s 5,200 employees whose skills, performance
and commitment make Equity Residential a great place
to live, work and invest.

Just ask Janice Ward, a resident who wrote us about
her Equity experience.
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Equity Residential is a real estate investment trust that continues the As of December 31, 2006, Equity Residential owned or had an interest in
multifamily real estate business founded by Samuel Zell in 196¢. The com- 617 properties, with a total of 165,716 apartment units, in 25 states and the
pany, which was taken public in August 1593, is listed on the New York District of Celumbia. The company has approximately 5,200 employees,

Stock Exchange and is a member of the S&P 500.
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- Shola, the assistant
, listened to
our meeds the fhirst
day we met lner,
she flound us the
periect apartment..
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Comments like those from resident Janice Ward start with the right properties—and
a great team. Over the past seven years, we have concentrated our properties in about 20 of
the urban areas where people most want 1o live and work, We have applied new technology to
make our properties easier to find, select and lease. Well-trained, highly engaged employees,
like assistant property manager Shola Onatolu, work together to provide the service residents
expect. And occupancy rates, renewal rates and rents are all on the rise.




With a high-tech job base and a populaticn that is both younger and
more affluent than the national average, Seattle is one of the most
attractive rental markets in the country. We currently own 48 properties

in the Scattle area, including The Olympus in downtown Seattle (above),

a 328-unit development that we opened in 200z,

Shela Onatolu
Assistani Property Manager

Heather Starck
Senior Pricing Analyst

Rick Blair
Assistant Vice President
Imeractive Marketing




Nate Kazlauskas

Regional Facilities Manager
Javier Rivera

Maintenance Technician

We're at home in South Florida. With higher than average
household formation and population growth. the area
remains a [avorite destination for the growing ranks of
retirees looking for a first or second home. We own nearly
10,000 apartment units in South Florida, including the
562 found at St Andrews in Winsion Park (above). which

we purchased in 2002.
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Superior service builds strong relationships, right from the start. Because exceptional
move-ins help to create long-term residents, we track each resident’s initial experience. Each
apartment is certified for quality before residents move in, and backed by a 100% resident
satisfaction guarantee. Our new EMC 365 Excellence in Maintenance and Customer Service
program provides comprehensive performance standards for all maintenance services.
Regional facilities managers help to develop and implement the best practices across our
properties—and make each stand out.
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Alarge, diverse economy, a growing population, including a growing immigrant population,
and high single-family home prices strengthen the demand for apartments in Southern
California. Home cwnership costs are among the highest in the country, accounting for
more than 75% of the median family income. while rental costs only account for about cne-
third of that amount. We own 18,500 apariment units in Southern California, including

The Reserve at Empire Lakes in Rancho Cucamonga, California (above), a 467-unit property

we acquired in 2005.
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Equity’s residents value our people. So do we. A stock ownership and profit sharing
plan that extends to the property level encourages employees to think like owners—and
to share in our success. And we provide all of the tools they need to achieve it. On-site
property managers like Chris Monson benefit from award-winning training on every
aspect of property management, as well as formal leadership development programs.

New enterprise-wide operating systems help them work more productively and focus
on resident service.
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We want residents to come—and stay. So we focus on markets where the cost of
single family homes is high and renting is a way of life. We have the reputation, capital
resources and experience required to complete large acquisitions, and with $1.2 billion
in assets under construction, we are one of the leading apartment developers in the
country. National purchasing agreements for appliances, floor coverings, services, and
supplies make the most of our purchasing power and help us keep our properties
attractive and up-to-date.

o
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Overlooking the New York skyline, The Pier in Jersey City
{above) is a 2g7-unit development completed in 2003.
W are one of the largest apartment companies in the
New York Metro market and own more than 5,000
apartment units in the area. which has a strong economic
hase. high apartment occupancy rates and rental growth,
and high barriers to new development.

Steve Kowal
First Vice President, Censtruction Services

Megumi Brod
Vice President, Deuvelopment

Reggie Samuel
Director, Acquisitions




~JBetween the extrenely
fmienclly propexty
managemnent team, the
quiiet, beautiful and plush
surroundimngs, and the
apartment itself, we could
not be happier with our
choice to live here,
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Total returns outperform major
indices and provide positive
returns through all cycles

Annualized total returns thiough
December 31, 2006

To Our Shareholders:

It’s a great time to be with Equity Residential, for our
shareholders, residents, and employees.

Qur shareholders are benefiting from the strongest apartment fundamentals we
have seen in the past five years. We have made the mest of it, producing some

of the best operating results in our history. Total revenues rose by $300 million to
%2 billion in 2006. Earnings per share increased to $3.5¢ compared to $2.79 in 200s.
We increased our dividend by 4.5%, to $1.85 per share. Although special charges
reduced funds from operations to $2.27 per share, with a total shareholder return of
approximately 35%, we continued to outperform major indices, just as we have for
the past three, five and ten-year periods.

Owur residents found more of our apartments in the areas where they want to
live—major cities, typically located in coastal areas, that offer good employment
opportunities and a vibrant, urban lifestyle. And more than ever, we are serving
customers as they want to be served by making it easier for them to find, lease and
live in one of our apartments—and to stay longer, too.

Our emplopees are finding new opportunities to engage their talents, creativity, and
ambition. We have enhanced our award-winning training programs, refined pay and
performance systems, and introduced new career development tools. What's more,
we share the same objectives and values, so even as we transformed our portfolio
and operations, we achieved the highest employee engagement scores in our history,
significantly above national averages.
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Equity Residential Portfolio
! As of December 31, 2006

ooz

Job Growth and TRANSFORMING CQUR PORTFOLIO
Household Formation The success—and excitement—we're experiencing today begins with the progress
Qur core markets enjoy higher than average we have made in implementing our long-term strategy of transforming our portfolio.
Job growth and household formation. Since 2000, we have sold more than $8.0 biliion in assets, typically in smaller, second-
O National Average tier markets. We have acquireq $$.0 billiﬁon in aslsets in about 2.0 core markets, citi.es
O EQR ey Markets that share our target characteristics of high barriers to entry, h1gher. thal_l average !ob
growth, large renter populations, an attractive quality of life, and high single-family
2000-2005 home costs.
108 HOUSEHOLD Shifting our capital into high barrier-to-entry markets has increased the value of our
GROWTH FORMATION . N
portfolio. Rental rates are higher—an average ¢f $1,100 per month, compared to $9o0
819 in 2004—vacancy rates are lower, and turnover is reduced. Investing in fewer markets
o also enables us to streamline our management and reduce costs.
51% We continued the transformation of cur portfolio in 2006, selling 335 properties
with 39,608 units for $2.26 billion, while acquiring 35 properties, with 8,768 units,
for $1.75 billion. By far the single largest {ransacticn was the $1.09 billion sale of our
2.2% Lexford Division, which cwned 28¢ ranch-style apartment properties in the Midwest
1:4% and South. Just as we purchased Lexford at an opportune time—in 1999—we sold it
D L ata good time as well, generating an unleveraged internal rate of return of 15%.
More than ever before, we are focusing on increasing our development activity.
We currently have about $1.2 billion in assets under construction, divided almost
?0(105—2010 oUSEROLD equally between joint venture projects and those managed by our growing in-house ‘
GROWTH FORMATION development team. Using both approaches offers the best of two worlds. Joint
ventures bring opportunities we may not have otherwise seen and allow us to
9.9% 9.1% leverage our partners’ expertise and contacts. At the same time, managing projects
(] in-house provides for greater control of the process and a larger share of potential
6.6% - profits. We plan to increase the percentage of in-house development projects we ,

undertake in the future.

In acquisitions and development, we are distinguished not only by the volume of
transactions we are involved in, but alsc by our reputation and approach. Sellers
often come to us “off market,” bypassing other potential buyers because we have the
skills and financial capacity to handle complex transactions, and we're known for

Source economy.com

I2




[nvestment Return
(dallars in thousands, assumes dividend reinvesiment)
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$10,000 invested in Equity Residential stock in
1993 was worth 586,000 on Decermber 31, 2006,

doing what we say. We have proven our ability to succeed in high barrier-to-entry
markets—our new development at our Charles River Park property, for example, is
the first new construction in Boston’s West End in 30 years.

As we've said before, we are opportunistic investors. We are not attached to any of
our properties. Qur commitment is to maximize returns on invested capital and, as
conditions change, we adapt. One example is our condominium conversion business,
which was hit by the decline in the for-sale housing market in 2006. While we still
believe in the long-term viability of that business, we moved quickly to size our
operations to current demand. We also have acquired several projects planned as
condeminium conversions and will return them to rental apartments.

TRANSFORMING OUR OPERATIONS

While transforming our portfolio, we also have transformed our operations with
new technologies and systems that enable us to manage properties more efficiently
and operate at a higher level. A new automated pricing system, which sets the rent
for each apartment daily, takes the guesswork out of balancing rates and inventories,
and is lifting revenues. A new enterprise-wide operating platform gives us new
ways to monitor—and improve—our operations and our service. Launched in mid-
2006, a new e-procurement system provides an online catalog for all the appliances,
equipment and supplies used by each property to heip standardize operations and
maximize our purchasing power, It's one of several procurement initiatives that
produced $14 million in savings in 2006.

Technology also has transformed the way we serve customers, beginning with how
our apartment communities are marketed. At any given time, more than ro million
people are using the internet to look for apartments, and we are making sure they
find us there. We have substantially increased internet advertising, which delivers
results at a fraction of the cost of conventional print media. Prospective customers
can now see the specific apartments that are currently available, and we will offer
customers the convenience of completing lease applications online.

We're improving our service—and our results—in other ways, too. Calls once
answered at the property level now go to our nationwide call center, which has
information on all of the apartments available in a given market, so we can cross-sell
our properties and offer more choices to customers.

When move-in day comes, it is going better than ever before. Our research shows that
first impressions last. With this in mind, perfect move-ins have become a major focus

in both our training and our new reporting systems. We are measuring the number of
service calls received from customers in their first 30 days with us—and how quickly

they are answered—and we are rewarding employees for improving these scores.

I3
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People Turning 18 Each Year
(in millions)

Each year 3.5 10 4.0 million people turn 18, and
the 18 1o 29-year-old cohort has a 60% to 70%
propensity to rent.
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Demand for Rental Housing
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Our service—and our success—depends on our pecple. While we have changed
much about our business, we have never forgotten that Equity’s employees are the
cornerstone of our performance. We continue to provide the structure, training

and support they need to achieve their best. For the sixth year in a row we were
named a “Top 100" company for workforce education by both Training magazine
and the American Society of Training and Development. In 2006, we conducted
close to 35,00c student training sessions on subjects ranging from compensation

to exceptional make-readies. A new performance management website helps

to facilitate candid two-way conversations about compensation. A new career
development website provides employees with a one-stop source for information on
career opportunities. And as we expand into larger urban markets, the opportunities
continue to grow. Employees have responded with pride and commitment. In gur
z006 engagement survey, 8¢% of emplovees said they are proud to work at Equity.
Our engagement score of 83% is well above national averages.

THE TRANSFORMATION CONTINUES
We have the portfolio, the plans and, most of all, the people required to continue our
growth, and virtually all of the long-term trends are positive.

Each year, nearly 4 million “echo boomers,” those born between 1982 and 1995, turn
18 and enter their prime years for renting an apartment. At the same time, many
newly retired baby boomers are moving into cities for the amenities and lifestyle they
offer. That's not all. Strong job growth, high single-family home prices in many of the
most attractive markets, the removal of apartment inventory through condominium
conversions, and little new apartment construction all work to reduce supply and
increase demand.

More than ever, we are in the right places, at the right time. Our key markets have
higher than average household formation and jeb growth, and larger than average
renter populations, since high prices often put home ownership out of reach. And
with most of our properties located along the coasts or in the Sunbelt, we are in many
of the most desirable markets in the country, including New York City, Southern
California, Washington D.C., South Florida, the San Francisco Bay Area, and Seattle.

We are going to stick with our game plan. Today, we earn about 65% of our income
from high barrier-to-entry markets, compared to about 35% in 2000. As we continue
to transform our portfolio, that percentage will increase even more. This year we
will finish exiting the Midwest and some smaller, secondary markets, concentrating
our assets in markets that promise the best total returns. At the same time, we

will continue to impreove the portfolio by refining the mix of properties in each




We have the porifolio, the
plans andl, most of all, the

people to continue
QU ZFOWY U

core market. We have the cperating capacity, the balance sheet and the appetite to
complete large acquisiticns, step up develcpment activity and respond quickly to
emerging opportunities. What’s more, as recently acquired and developed properties
begin to appear in same-store sales figures, we will see a measurable increase in
financial performance.

The new systems that we have installed will alsc begin to have an impact on results.
All of our properties are now on cur new pricing system. Improved customer service
will help boost renewal rates, and we will continue to expand our use of the internet,
allowing our customers to make service requests and lease payments online. We will
continue to develop a workforce that welcomes change and opportunity. For all of us
who have a stake in Equity Residential, the best is yet to come.

/J% @W

Samuel Zell David |. Neithercut
Chairman of the Board of Trustees President and Chief Executive Officer
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Selected Financial Data

(Financial information in thousands except for per share and properiy daia)

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Operating Data:
Total revenues from cantinuing operations 5 1,990,436 S 1,682,658 $ 1,493,927 5 1,330,804 $ 1,301,856
Interest and other income 5 31,103 5 68,399 S 8,765 5 15,581 5 13,947
Inceme from continuing operations, net of minority interests $ 100532 5 147323 § 88778 § 98966 S 104,689
Discontinued operaticns, net of minerity interests §$ 972312 714470 5 383551 S 424345 § 296,088
Net income 5 1,072,844 $ 861,793 5 472,329 5 523311 4 400,777
Net income available to Common Shares 5 1,031,766 $ 807,792 5 418,583 $ 426,639 5 324,162
Earnings per share - basic:

Income from continuing operaticns available

to Commen Shares ) 0.21 5 0.33 5 0.13 S 0.01 ] 0.10

Net income available to Common Shares 5 356 5 2.83 5 150 5 1.57 5 .19

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 290,019 285,760 279.744 272,337 271,974
Earnings per share - diluted:

Income from continuing cperations available

toc Common Shares S 0.20 $ 0.32 S 012 $ 0.01 S 0.10

Net income available to Common Shares $ 350 ¢ 279 S 148 ¢ 1.55 $ 1.18

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 315,579 310,785 303,871 257,041 297,969
Distributions declared per Common Share outstanding 5 179§ 174§ 173§ 173 % 1.73
Balance Sheet Data {at end of period):
Real estate, before accumulated depreciation $ 17,235,175 $ 16,590,370 § 14,852,621 $ 12,874,379 $ 13,045,263
Real estate, after accumulated depreciation 514,212,695 $ 13,702,230 $ 12,252,794 $ 10,578,366 $ 10,934,245
Total assets 515062219 5 14,108,751 $ 12656306 § 11477917 § 11,822,008
Total debt $ 8057656 § 7591073 5 6459806 5 5360489 5 5523699
Minerity Interests S 411,459 5 422,183 5 535,582 $ 600,929 S 611,303
Shareholders’ equity $ 5,884,222 § 5,395,340 S 5072528 $ 5,015,441 $ 5,197,123
Other Data:
Total properties {at end of period) 617 926 939 968 1,039
Total apartment units {at end of period) 165,716 197,404 200,149 207,506 223,59)
Funds from operations available to

Common Shares and OP Units - basic'™™ $ 716143 § 784625 § 651,741 S 640390 5 719,265
Cash flow provided by {used for):

Operating activities $ 755,466 ) 698,531 5 707,061 5 744,319 S 888,253

Investing activities $  (259.472) 5 (592201) § (5552790 S 334,028 5 (48.622)

Financing activities $ (324545 5 (101,007) S (117,856) 5 (1,058643) 5 (861,369}

IThe National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts {“NAREIT™) defines funds from operations
("FFQ") (April 2001 White Faper) as net income (computed in accordance with accounting principles
generatly accepted in the United States ("GAAPT)), exciuding gains (or losses) iram sales of depreciable
propertly. pius depreciation and amortization, and after adjustments for unconsglidated partnerships
and jeint ventures, Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures will be caleulated
to reflect funds from operations an the same basis. The April 2002 White Paper states that gain ar loss
on sales of property is excluded from FFO for previously depreciated operating propertics only. Once
the Company commences the conversion of units 10 condominiums, it simultanecusly discontinues
depreciation of such preperty. See Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations for a reconciliation of net income 10 FFO.

“The Company believes that FFQ is helpful to investors as a supplemental measure of the operating

performance of a real estate company, because it is a recognized measure of performance by the real
estate industry and by excluding gains or losses related Lo dispositions of depreciable property and

excluding real estate depreciation (which can vary among owners of identical assets in similar condi-

tion based on historical cost accounting and useful tife estimates), FFO ¢an help compare the operating
performancy of a company's real estate between periods or as compared o different companies. FFO
in and of itself does not represent net income or net cash flows irom aperating activities in accordance
with GAAP Therefore, FFO should not be exclusively considered as an alternative te net income ar
to net cash tlows fram operating activities as determined by GAAP or as a measure of liquidity. The

Company’s calculation of FFO may differ trom other real estate companies due to, amang other items,
variaions in cost capitalization policies for capital expenditures and, accordingly, may not by compa-

rable 1o such other real estate companies.

I'hotography by Chris Jacubs



hod.
2
N

EQUITY RESIDENTIAL s

2006 FINANCIAL REPORT

Dear Equity Residential Shareholder,

We are pleased to present our 2006 financial report. Equity Residential, a Maryland real estate
investment trust (“REIT”) formed in March 1993, is an S&P 500 Company focused on the acquisition,
development and management of high quality apartment properties in top United States growth markets. EQR
has elected to be taxed as a REIT.

Equity Residential is one of the largest publicly traded real estate companies and is the largest
publicly traded owner of multifamily properties (based on the aggregate market value of its outstanding
Common Shares, the number of apartment units wholly owned and total revenues earned). Our corporate
headquarters are located in Chicago, 1llinois.

We want you to be aware that Equity Residential is doing the utmost to clearly present its financial
performance results to you, our investors. We trust this financial report accomplishes that goal.

Two North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, lllinois 60606
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EQUITY RéSlDENTlAL
Two North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, Illinois 60606

2006 FINANCIAL REPORT

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

The following discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition of the
Company should be read in connection with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto. Due to
the Company's ability to control the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries other than entities owning
interests in the Partially Owned Properties - Unconsolidated and certain other entities in which the Company
has investments, the Operating Partnership and each such subsidiary entity has been consolidated with the
Company for financial reporting purposes. Capitalized terms used herein and not defined are as defined in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Staternents.

Forward-looking statements in this report are intended to be made pursuant to the safe harbor
provisions of the Pnivate Secunties Litigation Reform Act of 1995, These statements are based on current
expectations, estimates, projections and assumptions made by management. While the Company’s
management believes the assumptions underlying its forward-looking statements are reasonable, such
information is inherently subject to uncertaintics and may involve certain risks, which could cause actual
results, performance, or achievements of the Company to differ materially from anticipated future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Many of these
uncertainties and risks are difficult to predict and beyond management’s control. Forward-looking statements
are not guarantees of future performance, results or events. The Company assumes no obligation to update or
supplement forward-looking statements because of subsequent events. Factors that might cause such
differences inctude, but are not limited to, the following:

e We intend to actively acquire and develop multifamily properties for rental operations and/or
conversion into condominiums, as well as upgrade and sell existing properties as individual
condominiums. We may underestimate the costs necessary to bring an acquired or development
property up to standards established for its intended market position. Additionally, we expect
that other major real estate investors with significant capital will compete with us for attractive
investment opportunities or may also develop properties in markets where we focus our
development efforts. This competition may increase prices for multifamily properties or decrease
the price at which we expect to sell individual properties. We may not be in a position or have
the opportunity in the future to make suitable property acquisitions on favorable terms. We also
plan to develop more properties ourseives in addition to co-investing with our development
partners for either the rental or condominium market, depending on opportunities in each sub-
market. This may increase the overall level of risk associated with our developments. The total
number of development units, cost of development and estimated completion dates are subject to
uncertainties arising from changing economic conditions (such as the cost of labor and
construction materials), competition and local government regulation.

e Sources of capital to the Company or labor and materials required for maintenance, repair, capital
expenditure or development are more expensive than anticipated;

¢  Occupancy levels and market rents may be adversely affected by national and local economic and
market conditions including, without limitation, new construction of muliifamily housing, slow




employment growth, availability of low interest mortgages for single-family home buyers and the
potential for geopolitical instability, all of which are beyond the Company’s control; and

¢ Additional factors as discussed in Part | of the Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly those
under “Risk Factors™.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak
only as of the date hereof. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly release any revisions to these
forward-looking statements, which may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to
reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Forward-looking statements and related uncertaintics are also
included in Notes 5 and 11 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this report.

Results of Operations

In conjunction with our business objectives and operating strategy, the Company has continued to
invest or recycle its capital investment in apartment properties located in strategically targeted markets during
the years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. In summary, we:

Yecar Ended December 31, 2006:

¢ Acquired $1.8 billion of apartment properties consisting of 35 propertics and 8,768 units, and
$134.4 million of land parcels, all of which we deem to be in our strategic targeted markets; and

e Sold $2.3 billion of apartment properties consisting of 335 properties and 39,608 units, as well as
1,069 condominium units for $216.0 million and $1.6 million of tand parcels.

Year Ended December 31, 2005:

* Acquired $2.5 billion of apartment properties consisting of 41 properties and 12,059 units, and
$138.3 million of land parcels, all of which we deem to be in our strategic targeted markets; and

s Sold $1.4 billion of apartment properties consisting of 50 properties and 12,848 units, as well as
2,241 condominium units for $593.3 million and five land parcels for $108.3 million,

On June 28, 2006, the Company announced that it agreed to sell its Lexford Housing Division for a
cash purchase price of $1.086 billion. The sale closed on October 5, 2006. The Lexford Housing Division
results are classified as discontinued operations, net of minority interests, in the consolidated statements of
operations for all periods presented. The Company recorded a gain on sale of approximately $418.7 million
on the sale of the Lexford Housing Division in the fourth quarter of 2006. In conjunction with the Lexford
disposition, the Company paid off/extinguished $196.3 million of mortgage notes payable secured by the
properties and incurred approximately $9.2 million in prepayment penalties upon extinguishment.

The Company’s primary financial measure for evaluating cach of its apartment communities is net
operating income ("NOI”). NOI represents rental income less property and maintenance expense, real estate
tax and insurance expense, and property management expense. The Company believes that NOI is helpful to
investors as a supplemental measure of the operating performance of a rcal estate company because it is a
direct measure of the actual operating results of the Company’s apartment communitics.

Properties that the Company owned for all of both 2006 and 2005 (the “2006 Same Store
Properties™), which represented 128,133 units, impacted the Company’s results of operations, Properties that
the Company owned for all of both 2005 and 2004 (the "2005 Same Store Properties"), which represented
154,854 units, also impacted the Company's results of operations. Both the 2006 Same Store Properties and
2005 Same Store Properties are discussed in the following paragraphs.

The Company's acquisition, disposition, completed development and consolidation of previously
unconsolidated property and variable interest entity activities also impacted overall results of operations for




the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. The impacts of these activities are also discussed in greater
detail in the following paragraphs.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2006 to the year ended December 31, 2005

For the year ended December 31, 2006, income from continuing operations, net of minority interests,
decreased by approximately $46.8 million when compared to the year ended December 31, 2005. The
decrease in continuing operations is discussed below.

Revenues from the 2006 Same Store Properties increased $88.7 million primarily as a result of higher
rental rates charged to residents. Expenses from the 2006 Same Store Properties increased $23.9 million
primarily due to higher maintenance, payroll, utility costs and real estate taxes, The following tables provide
comparative samc store results and statistics for the 2006 Same Store Properties:

2006 vs. 2005
Year over Year Same-Store Results/Statistics

$ in Thousands (except for Average Rental Rate) — 128,133 Same-Store Units

Results Statistics
Average
_ " Rental

Description Revenucs Expenses NOI Rate (1) Occupancy Turnover
2006 $ 1,612,529 $628,210 $984,319 $ 1,110 94.6% (64.6%)
2005 3 1,523,858 $604.318 $919.540 $ 1,050 94.6% (65.5%)
Change $ 88,671 $ 23,892 $ 64,779 $ 60 0.0% 0.9%

Change 5.8% 4.0% 7.0% 5.7%

(1) Average rental rate is defined as total rental revenucs divided by the weighted average occupied units for the period.

The following table presents a reconciliation of operating income per the consolidated statements of
operations to NOI for the 2006 Same Store Propertics.

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005
(Amounts in thousands)

Operating income $ 513,143 § 433464
+ Adjustments:
Non-same-store operating results (173,863) (22.851)
Fee and asset management revenue (9,101) (10,240)
Fee and asset management expense 8,934 8,555
Depreciation 562,739 439,594
General and administrative 48,465 70.405
Impatrment 34,002 613
Same store NOI $ 984,319 $ 919,540




For propertics that the Company acquired prior to January 1, 2006 and expects to continue to own
through December 31, 2007, the Company anticipates the following same store results for the full year ending
December 31, 2007:

2007 Same-Store Assumptions

Physical Occupancy - 95.0%

Revenue Change 5.00% to 6.00%
Expense Change 3.50% to 4.50%
NOI Change 5.50% t0 7.50%

These 2007 assumptions are based on current expectations and are forward-looking.

Non-same store operating results increased $151.0 million and consist primarily of properties
acquired in calendar years 2006 and 2005 as well as our corporate housing business.

Sec also Note 20 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion
regarding the Company’s segment disclosures.

Fee and asset management revenues, net of fee and asset management cxpenses decreased by $1.5
million primarily as a result of lower income earned from managing fewer properties for third parties and
unconsolidated entities. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company managed 15,020 units and 16,269
units, respectively, for third partics and unconsolidated entities.

Property management expenses from continuing operations include off-site expenses associated with
the self-management of the Company's properties as well as management fees paid to any third party
management companics. These expenses increased by approximately $9.3 million or 10.7%. This increase is
primarily attributable to higher overall payroll costs and higher overall computer and training costs spectfic to
the Company’s rollout of a new property management system.

Depreciation expense from continuing operations, which includes depreciation on non-real estate
assets, increased $123.1 million primarily as a result of additional depreciation expense on newly acquired
propertics and capital expenditures for all properties owned.

General and administrative expenses, which include corporate operating expenses, decreased
approximately $21.9 million between the periods under comparison. This decrcase was primarily due to
lower cxccutive compensation expense duc to severance costs for several executive officers incurred during
the year ended December 31, 2005 and a $2.8 million reimbursement of legal expenses during the year ended
December 31, 2006. The Company anticipates that gencral and administrative expenses will approximate
$50.0 million to $52.0 million for the year ending December 31, 2007. The above assumption is based on
current expectations and is forward-looking.

Impairment from continuing operations increased $33.4 million between periods under comparison.
This increase was primarily due to an impairment charge on goodwill of $30.0 million related to the corporate
housing business and $2.0 million related to the writc-off of various deferred sales costs following the
decision to halt the condominium conversion and sale process at five assets.

Interest and other income from continuing operations decreased by approximately $37.3 million,
primarily as a result of the $57.1 million in cash reccived during the year ended December 31, 2005 for the
Company’s ownership interest in Rent.com, which was acquired by ¢Bay, Inc. This was partially offset by
the $3.7 million in additional proceeds for Rent.com, an increase in interest camed on tax deferred 1031
exchange proceeds from the Lexford disposition and $14.7 million of forfeited deposits for various terminated
transactions received during the year ended December 31, 2006.




Interest expense from continuing operations, including amortization of deferred financing costs,
increased approximately $67.4 million primarily as a result of higher variable interest rates and overall debt
levels outstanding. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company capitalized interest costs of
approximately $20.7 million as compared to $13.7 million for the year cnded December 31, 2005. This
capitalization of interest primarily relates to consolidated projects under development. The cffective interest
cost on all indebtedness for the year ended December 31, 2006 was 6.21% as compared to 6.16% for the year
ended December 31, 2005.

Loss from investments in unconsolidated entities increased approximately $1.1 million between the
periods under comparison. This increase is primarily the result of consolidating previously unconsolidated
properties as of January 1, 2006 as the result of EITF Issue No. 04-5. Sec Note 4 in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion.

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities decreased $1.0 million, due to increased unconsolidated
sales during the year ended December 31, 2005.

Net gain on sales of land parcels decreased $27.5 million, due to a large gain recorded on the sale of
one land parcel during the year ended December 31, 2005,

Discontinued operations, net of minority interests, increased approximately $257.8 million between
the periods under companson. This increase 1s primanly the result of lower real estate net book values for
propertics sold during the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the same period in 2005. See Note
13 in the Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2005 to the year ended December 31, 2004

For the year ended December 31, 2005, income from continuing operations, net of minority interests,
increased by approximatcly $58.5 million when compared to the yecar ended December 31, 2004. The increase
in continuing operations is discussed below.

Revenues from the 2005 Same Store Properties increased $61.9 million primarily as a result of lower
concessions provided residents and a slight increase in occupancy rates. Expenses from the 2005 Same Store
Properties increased $36.2 million primarily due to higher payroll, utility costs and rcal estate taxes. The
following tables provide comparative revenue, expense, NOI and weighted average occupancy for the 2005
Same Store Properties:

2005 vs. 2004
Year over Year Same-Store Results

$ in Thousands — 154,854 Same-Store Units

Description Revenues Expenses (1) NOI
2005 $ 1,636,753 $ 678,199 $ 958,554
2004 S 1,574,843 5 641,980 $ 932,863
Change $ 61,910 $ 36219 $ 25,691
Change 3.9% 5.6% 2.8%

(1) Year 2005 expenses exclude $11.1 million of uninsured property damage caused by
Hurricane Wilma. Year 2004 expenses exclude $15.2 million of uninsured property damage
caused by Hummicanes Charley, Frances, Ivan and Jeanne,




Same-Store Occupancy Slatistics

Year 2005 94.1%
Year 2004 93.5%
Change 0.6%

Non-same store operating results increased $78.6 million and consist primarily of properties acquired
in calendar years 2005 and 2004 as well as our corporate housing business.

Fee and asset management revenues, net of fee and asset management expenses, decreased by $1.5
million primarily as a result of lower income carmed from Ft. Lewis and managing fewer properties for third
parties and unconsolidated entities. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company managed 16,269 units
and 17,988 units, respectively, for third parties and unconsolidated entities.

Property management cxpenses from continuing operations include off-site expenses associated with
the self-management of the Company's propertics as well as management fees paid to any third party
management companies. These expenses increased by approximately $10.2 million or 13.3%. This increase
is primarily attributable to higher overall payroll costs including bonuses, long-term compensation costs and
an increase of the Company’s match for employec 401(k) contributions.

Depreciation expense from continuing operations, which includes depreciation on non-real estate
assets, increased $58.9 million primarily as a result of additional depreciation expense on newly acquired
properties and capital expenditures for all properties involved.

General and administrative expenses, which include corporate operating expenses, increased
approximately $23.3 million between the periods under comparison. This increase was primarily due to
higher executive compensation cxpense due to scverance costs of $9.8 million for several executive officers,
$7.9 million of additional accruals specific to performance shares for selected executive officers and a $2.5
million profit sharing accrual paid in the first quarter of 2006.

Interest and other income from continuing operations increased approximately $59.6 million,
primarily as a result of the $57.1 million in cash received for the Company’s ownership interest in Rent.com,
which was acquired by eBay, Inc.

Interest expense from continuing operations, including amortization of deferred financing costs,
increased approximately $55.3 million primarily as a result of higher overall debt balances as well as higher
variable interest rates. During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company capitalized interest costs of
approximately $13.7 miltion as compared to $14.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This
capitalization of interest primarily relates to consolidated projects under development. The effective interest
cost on all indebtedness for the year ended December 31, 2005 was 6.16% as comparcd to 5.87% for the year
ended December 31, 2004.

(Loss) income from imvestments in unconsolidated entities increased approximately $7.8 million
between the periods under comparison. This increase is primarily the result of consolidation of properties that
were previously unconsolidated in the first quarter of 2004,

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities decreased $3.3 million, primarily due to a decrease in the
number of unconsolidated entities sold.

Net gain on sales of land parcels increcased $24.8 million, primarily due to an increase in the number
of land parcels sold and large gains recorded on two land parcels located in Tyson’s Corner, Virginia,




Discontinued operations, net of minority interests, increased approximately $330.9 mitlion between
the periods under comparison. This increase is primarily the result of higher per unit sales prices and lower
real estate net book values for properties sold during the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to the
same period in 2004 as well as higher condominium sales. The Company recognized $91.6 million and $32.1
million of net incremental gain on sales of condominium units (net of provision for income taxes) for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
For the Year Ended December 31, 2006

As of January 1, 2006, the Company had approximately $88.8 million of cash and cash equivalents
and $780.8 million available under its line of credit (nct of $50.2 million which was restricted/dedicated to
support letters of credit and not available for borrowing). Afier taking into effect the various transactions
discussed in the following paragraphs and the net cash provided by operating activitics, the Company’s cash
and cash equivalents balance at December 31, 2006 was approximately $260.3 million and the amount
available on the Company’s revolving credit facilities was $470.7 million (net of $69.3 million which was
restricted/dedicated to support letters of credit and not available for borrowing).

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company gencrated proceeds from various
transactions, which included the following:

e Disposed of 340 properties, various individual condominium units and two land parcels,
receiving net proceeds of approximately $2.3 billion;

e Obtained $395.5 million in net proceeds from the issuance of $400.0 million of ten and one-half
year 5.375% fixed rate public notes and terminated six forward starting swaps designated to
hedge the note issuance, receiving net proceeds of $10.7 million;

e Obtained $637.0 million in net proceeds from the issuance of $650.0 million of twenty year
3.85% exchangeable fixed rate public notes; _

¢  Obtamed $267.0 million in new mortgage financing; and

* Issued approximately 2.9 million Common Shares and received net proceeds of $77.7 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the above proceeds were primarily utilized to;

Invest $291.3 million primarily in development projects;

Acquire 35 properties and nine land parcels, utilizing cash of $1.7 billion;
Repurchase 1.9 million Common Shares utilizing cash of $83.2 million;

Repay $493.0 million of mortgage loans;

Repay $60.0 million of fixed rate public notes;

Redeem the series G Preference Interests at a liquidation value of $25.5 million; and
Redeem the Series C Preferred Shares at a liquidation value of $115.0 million.

Depending on its analysis of market prices, economic conditions, and other opportunities for the
investrnent of available capital, the Company may repurchase its Common Shares pursuant to its existing
share buyback program authorized by the Board of Trustees. The Company repurchased $83.2 million
(1,897,912 shares at an average price per share of $43.85) of its Common Shares during the year ended
December 31, 2006 to offset the issuance of 1,144,326 OP Units in connection with three property
acquisitions and to partially offset restricted shares granted and ESPP shares purchased during the year ended
December 31, 2006. The Company is authorized to repurchase approximately $501.8 million of additional
Common Shares.

The Company’s total debt summary and debt maturity schedule as of December 31, 2006, are as
follows:




- Debt Summary as of December 31, 2006
(Amounts in thousands) '

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Maturities
Amounts (1) % of Total Rates (1) _(years)
Secured $ 3,178,223 39.4% ' 5.82% 6.4
Unsecured 4,879,433 60.6% 5.84% 6.6
Total $ 8,057,656 100.0% ‘ 5.83% 6.5
Fixed Rate Dcbt: .
Secured ~ Conventional $ 2,286,529 28.4% 6.30% : 4.4
Secured — Tax Exempt 18,260 0.2% 6.39% -18.3
Unsecured — Public/Private 4,158,043 51.6% 5.90% T 6.9
Unsecured — Tax Exempt ‘ . 111,390 1.4% 5.06% 22.3
Fixed Rate Debt ' 6,574,222 81.6% 6.04% -~ 6.3
Floating Rate Debt: '
Secured — Conventional : 338,278 4.2% 6.31% 24
Secured — Tax Exempt 535,156 6.6% 3.45% 17.4
Unsecured — Public 150,000 1.9% | 6.13% 24
Unsecured — Revolving Credit Facilities 460,000 5.7% 5.40% 1.4
. Floating Rate Debt 1,483,434 18.4% . 4.90% 7.5
Tota] $ 8,057,656 100.0% 5.83% 6.5
(i} Net of the effect of any derivative instruments. Weighted average rates are for the year ended December 31,
2006, '
Debt Maturity Schedule as of December 31, 2006
{Amounts in thousands)
' Weighted Weighted
! Average Rates Average Rat
Fixed Floating on Fixed Rate on Total De
Year Rate (1) Rate (1) Total % of Total Debt (1) €))
2007 $ 360411 $ 101,052 3 461,463 5.7% -6.34% 6.51%
2008 (2) 520,499 489,335 1,009,834 12.5% 6.71% 6.17%
2009 452,953 382,564 835,517 104% 6.37% 5.36%
2010 279,323 - 279,323 3.5% 7.05% 7.05%
2011 3) 1,448,445 24,150 1,472,595 18.3% - 5.52% 5.50%
2012 558,396 - 558,396 6.9% - C 6.48% 6.48%
2013 567,355 - © 567,355 7.1% 5.93% 5.93%
2014 504,141 34,460 538,601 6.7% 327% 5.26%
2015 316,459 - 316,459 - 3.9% 6.53% - - 6.53%
2016 1,089,170 - 1,089,170 13.5% 5.32% ' 5.32%
2017+ 477,070 451,873 928,943 11.5% : 6.70% . 588%
Total $ 6,574,222 $ 1,483,434 $ 8,057,656 100.0% - 5.98% 5.82%

(1) Net of the effect of any derivative instruments. Weighted average rates are as of December 31, 2006,
(2) Includes $460.0 mitlion outstanding on the Company’s $1.0 billion unsecured revolving credit faciliyy; which matures on May 29, 2008.

(3) Includes $650.0 million of 3.85% convertible unsecured debt with a final maturity of 2026. The notes are callable by the Company on or
after August 18, 201 1. The notes are putable by the holders on August 18, 2011, August 15, 2016 and August 15, 2021. .

H




)
2)
3)

4)

The following table provides a summary of the Company’s unsecured debt as of December 31, 2006:

Unsecured Debt Summary as of December 31, 2006
(Amounts in thousands)

Unamortized
Coupon Due Face Premium/ Net
Rate Date Amount (Discount) Balance
Fixed Rate Notes:
7.625% 04/15/07 $ 50,000 $ 51 § 50,051
6.900% 08/01/07 50,000 (14) 49986
7.540% 09/01/07 (1) 4,286 - 4,286
4.861% 11/30/07 50,000 - 50,000
7.500% 08/15/08 (1) 130,000 - 130,000
4.750% 06/15/09  (2) 300,000 {674) 299,326
6.950% 03/02/11 300,000 3,632 303,632
6.625% 03/15/12 400,000 (1,529) 398,471
5.200% 04/01/13 400,000 (740) 399,260
5.250% 09/15/14 560,000 (474) 499,526
6.584% 04/13/15 - 300,000 (919) 299,081
5.125% 03/15/16 500,000 (493) 499,507
5.375% 08/01/16 400,000 (1,778) 398,222
7.125% 10/15/17 150,000 (700) 149,300
7.570% 08/15/26 140,000 - 140,000
3.850% 08/15/26  (3) 650,000 (7,9%0) 642,010
Floating Rate Adjustments (2) (150,000) - (150,000)
FAS 133 Adjustments — net (2) (4,615) - {4,615)
4,169,671 (11,628) 4,158,043
Fixed Rate Tax Exempt Notes:
4.750% 12/15/28 (D) 35,600 - 35,600
5.200% 06/15129 (1) 75,790 - 75,790
111,390 - 111,390
Floating Rate Notes: 06/15/09  (2) 150,000 - 150,000
Revolving Credit Facilities: 05/29/08 (4) 460,000 - 460,000
Total Unsecured Debt $ 4,891,061 $  (11,628) $ 4,879.433

Notes are private. All other unsecured debt is public.

$150.0 million in fair value interest rate swaps converts 50% of the 4.730% Notes due June 15, 2009 to a floating interest rate.
Convertible notes mature on August 15, 2026. The notes are callable by the Company on or after August 18, 2011. The notes
are putable by the holders on August 18, 2011, August 15, 2016 and August 13, 2021.

Represents amount outstanding on the Company’s $1.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility.
As of February 28, 2007, an unlimited amount of debt securities remains available for issuance by the
Operating Partnership under a registration statement that became automatically effective upon filing with the

SEC in June 2006 (under SEC regulations enacted in 2005, the registration statement automatically expires on
June 29, 2009 and does not contain a maximum issuance amount) and $956.5 million in equity securities
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remains available for issuance by the Company under a registration statement the SEC declared effective in
February 1998. :

The Company's **Consolidated Debt-to-Total Market Capitalization Ratio” as of December 31, 2006
is presented in the following table. The Company calculates the equity component of its market capitalization
as the sum of (i) the total outstanding Common Shares and assumcd conversion of all OP Units at the
equivalent market valuc of the closing price of the Company’s Common Shares on the New York Stock
Exchange; (i) the “Common Share Equivalent” of all convertible preferred shares and preference
interests/units; and (iii) the liquidation valuc of all perpetual preferred shares and preference intercsts

outstanding.
Capital Structure as of December 31, 2006
(Amounts in thousands cxcept for share and per share amounts)
Secured Debt $ 3178223 394%
Unsecured Debt 4419433 54.9%
Lines of Credit 460,000 5.7%
Total Debt $ 8,057,656 100.0% 33.0%
Common Shares 293,551,633 93.6%
OP Units 19.914.583 6.4%
Total Shares & OP Units 313,466,216 100.0%
Common Share Equivalents (see below) 856,602
Total outstanding at quarter-cnd 314322 818
Common Share Price at December 31, 2006 $50.75
$ 15,951,883 97.7%
Perpetual Preferred Equity (see below) 375,000 2.3%
Total Equity $ 16,326,883 100.0% 67.0%
Total Market Capitalization § 24,384,539 100.0%
Convertible Preferred Equity as of December 31, 2006
(Amounts in thousands except for share and per share amounts)
Annual
Dividend Annual Weighted
Redemption Outstanding Liquidation Per Dividend Average Conversion Common Share
Series Date Shares/Units Value Share Jnit Amount Rate Ratio Equivalenis
Preferred Shares:
7.00% Series E 11/1/98 434816 § 10871 S 135 | 11128 483,863
7.00% Serics H 6/30/98 28,134 703 175 49 1.4480 40,738
Preference Interests:
7.625% Series J 12/14:06 230,000 11.500 28125 877 1.4108 324,484
Junier Preference Untts:
8.00% Series B 2909 7.367 184 2.00 15 1.020408 7,517
Total Convertible
Preferred Equity T00.317 $ 23258 $1.702 7.32% 856,602
Perpetual Preferred Equity as of December 31, 2006
(Amounts in thousands except for share and per share amounts)
Annual
Dividend Annual Weighted
Redemption Oustanding Liquidation Per Dividend Average
Series Date Shares/Units Value Share/Unit Amount Rate
Preferred Shares:
8.60% Scries D 71507 700,600 $ 175000 $ 2150 $ 15050
8295 Series K 121026 £.000,000 50,000 4145 4,145
6.48% Serics N 6/19;08 {0,000 150.000 16.20 9,720
Total Perpetual
Preferred Equity 2,300,000 $ 375000 S 18915 7.71%
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The Company expects to meet its short-term liquidity requirements, including capital expenditures
related to maintaining its existing properties and certain scheduled unsecured note and mortgage note
repayments, generally through its working capital, net cash provided by operating activities and borrowings
under its revolving credit facilities. The Company considers its cash provided by operating activities to be
adequate to meet operating requirements and payments of distributions. The Company also expects to meet
its long-term liquidity requirements, such as scheduled unsecured note and mortgage debt maturities, property
acquisitions, financing of construction and development activities and capital improvements through the
issuance of unsecured notes and equity securities, including additional OP Units, and proceeds received from
the disposition of certain properties. In addition, the Company has significant unencumbered properties
available to secure additional mortgage borrowings in the event that the public capital markets are unavailable
or the cost of altermative sources of capital is too high. The fair value of and cash flow from these
unencumbered properties are in excess of the requirements the Company must maintain in order to comply
with covenants under its unsecured notes and line of credit. Ofthe $17.2 billion in investment in real estate on
the Company’s balance sheet at December 31, 2006, $11.6 billion or 67.0%, was unencumbered,

The Operating Partnership’s senior debt credit ratings from Standard & Poors (“S&P*’), Moody’s and
Fitch are A-, Baal (positive outlook) and A, respectively. The Company’s preferred equity ratings from S&P,
Moody’s and Fitch are BBB+, Baa2 (positive outlook) and A-, respectively.

The Operating Partnership has a long-term revolving credit facility with potential borrowings of up to
$1.0 billion which matures in May 2008, This facility may, among other potential uses, be used to fund
property acquisitions, costs for certain properties under development and short term liquidity requirements.
As of February 26, 2007, $740.0 million was outstanding under this facility.

See Note 21 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of the events which
occurred subsequent to December 31, 2006.

Capitalization of Fixed Assets and Improvements to Real Estate

Our policy with respect to capital expenditures-is generally to capitalize expenditures that improve the
value of the property or extend the useful life of the component asset of the property. We track improvements
to real estate in two major categories and several subcategories:

* Replacements (inside the unit). These include:
o flooring such as carpets, hardwood, vinyl, linoleum or tile;
o appliances; _
o mechanical equipment such as individual furnace/air units, hot water heaters, etc;
o furniture and fixtures such as kitchen/bath cabinets, light fixtures, ceiling fans, sinks, tubs, toilets,
mirrors, countertops, etc; and
o blinds/shades.

All replacements are depreciated over a five-year estimated useful life. We expense as incurred all
maintenance and turnover costs such as cleaning, interior painting of individual units and the repair of any
replacement item noted above,

» Building improvements (outside the unif). These include:
o roof replacement and major repairs;
o paving or major resurfacing of parking lots, curbs and sidewalks;
o . amenities and commeon areas such as pools, exterior sports and playground equipment, lobbies,
clubhouses, laundry rooms, alarm and security systems and offices;
major building mechanical equipment systems;
interior and exterior structural repair and exterior painting and siding;
major landscaping and grounds improvement; and
vehicles and office and maintenance equipment.

O 0 C o0
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Al building improvements are depreciated over a five to ten-year estimated useful life. We capitalize
building improvements and upgrades only if the item: (i} exceeds $2,500 (selected projects must exceed
$10,000); (ii) cxtends the useful life of the asset; and (iit) improves the value of the asset.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, our actual improvements to real estate totaled approximately
$255.2 million. This includes the following (amounts in thousands cxcept for unit and per unit amounts):

Capitalized Improvements to Real Estate
For the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Avg. ‘
Total Units Avg, Building Per Avg.
(1) Replacements Per Unit Improvements _ Unit Total Per Unit
Established Properties (2) 115,152 % 46,094 § 400 § 81,127 § 705 $ 127,221 §$ 1,105
New Acquisition Properties (3) 29,512 9,194 330 35,854 1,31} 45,048 1,647
Other (4) 6,651 30,384 52,527 82911
Total 151,315 % 85,672 S 169,508 $ 255,180

(1) Total units exclude 10,846 unconsolidated units and 3,555 military housing (fce managed) units.

(2) Wholly Owned Propertics acquired prior to January [, 2004,

{3) Wholly Owned Properties acquired during 2004, 2005 and 2006. Per unit amounts are bascd on a weighted average of
27.346 units. '

(4} Includes properties either Partially Owned or sold during the period, commercial space, condominium conversions and
$21.4 million included in building improvements spent on seventeen specific assets related 1o major renovations and
repositioning of these assets.

For the ycar ended December 31, 2005, our actual improvements to real estate totaled approximately
$232.5 million. This includes the following (amounts in thousands except for unit and per unit amounts):

Capitalized Improvements to Real Estate
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Total Units Avg. Building Avg. Avg,
(1) Replacements  Per Unit  Improvements  Per Unit Total Per Unit
Established Propertics (2) 145,305 § 55508 % 382 % 89,252 % 614 $ 144760 $ 996
New Acquisition Properties (3) 27,669 5,626 270 19,508 937 25,134 £,207
Other (4) 8,531 23421 39,185 62,606
Total 181,505 % 84,555 8 147,945 $ 232,500

(1) Total units exclude 15,899 unconsolidated units.

(2) Wholly Owned Properties acquired prior to January 1, 2003. .

(3) Wholly Owned Properties acquired during 2003, 2004 and 2005. Per unit amounts are based on a weighted average of
20,828 units.

(4) Includes praperties either Partially Owned or sold during the period, commercial space, condominium conversions and
$6.8 million included in building improvements spent on nine specific assets related to magor renovations and
repositioning of these assets.

The Company expects to fund approximately $145.0 million for capital expenditures for replacements
and building improvements for all consolidated properties, exclusive of condominium conversion properties,




in 2007. This includes an average of approximately $1,000 per unit for capital improvements for cstablished
properties.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company’s total non-real cstate capital additions,
such as computer software, computer equipment, and furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements to the
Company’s property management offices and its corporate offices, were approximatcly $10.7 million. The
Company expects to fund approximately $8.2 million in total additions to non-real estaic property in 2007,

Improvements to real cstate and additions to non-real estate property were funded from net cash
provided by operating activitics.

Derivative Instraments

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to the effect of interest rate changes. The
Company limits these risks by following established risk management policics and procedures including the
use of dertvatives to hedge inlerest rate risk on debt instruments.

The Company has a policy of only entering into contracts with major financial institutions based upon
their credit ratings and other factors. When viewed in conjunction with the underlying and offsetting cxposure
that the derivatives are designed to hedge, the Company has not sustained a material loss from thosc
instruments nor does it anticipate any material adverse effect on its net income or financial position in the
future from the use of derivatives.

See Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of derivative
instruments at December 31, 2006,

Other ‘

Minority Interests as of December 31, 2006 decreased by $10.7 million when compared to December
31, 2005. The primary factors that impacted this account in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations and balance sheets during the ycar ended December 31, 2006 were:

® The redemption or repurchasc of 1.0 million units of Scries G, H and | Preference Interests with a
combined liquidation value of $48.5 million and a premium on redemption of $0.7 million (see
Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion);

» Distributions declared to Minority Interests, which amounted to $36.2 million (excluding Junior
Prefcrence Unit and Preference Interest distributions);

e The allocation of income from operations to holders of OP Units in the amount of $72.6 million;

¢ The issuance of 1,144,326 OP Units for the acquisition of threc properties with a valuation of
$49.6 million; and

¢ The conversion of 1.7 million OP Units into Common Shares valucd at $27.9 million.

Total distributions paid in January 2007 amounted to $152.4 million (excluding distributions on

Partially Owned Propettics), which included certain distributions declared during the fourth quarter ended
December 31, 2006.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

The Company has co-invested in various properties that are unconsolidated and accounted for under
the cquity method of accounting. Management does not believe these investments have a materially different
impact upon the Company’s liquidity, capital resources, credit or market risk than its property management
and ownership activitics. During 2000 and 2001, the Company entered into institutional ventures with an
unaffiliated partner. At the respective closing dates, the Company sold and/or contributed 45 properties
containing 10,846 units to thesc ventures and retained a 25% ownership interest in the ventures. The
Company’s joint venture partner contributed cash equal to 75% of the agreed-upon equity value of the
properties comprising the ventures, which was then distributed to the Company. The Company’s strategy
with respect to these ventures was to reduce its concentration of properties in a variety of markets.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has 11 projects totaling 3,448 units in various stages of
devclopment with estimated completion dates ranging through June 30, 2009. The development agreements
currently in place are discussed in detail in Note 18 of the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.-

See also Notes 2 and 6 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion
regarding the Company’s investments in partially owned cntities.

The following table summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations for the next five years and
thereafter as of December 31, 2006:

Payments Due by Year (in thousands)

Contractual Obligations 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter Total
Debt (a) $461,463 $1,009834 § 835517 $ 279323 $1472,595 $ 3998924 §$ 8,057,656
Operating Leases: .

Minimum Rent Payments (b) 5,443 5,302 4,709 4,119 2416 2,963 24,952
Other Long-Term Liabilities: ' . .

Deferred Compensation (c) 813 gi3 1,450 1,450 2,049 14,736 21,311
Total $467,719 $1,015949 S 841,676 S 284,892 § 1477060 § 4016623 $ 8,103,919

(#) Amounts include aggregate principal payments only. The Company paid $465,388, $397,886 and $348,574 for intercst on debt,
inclusive of derivative instruments, for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(b) Minimum basic rent due for various office space the Company leases and fixed base rent due on a ground lease for one property.

(c) Estimated payments to the Company's Chairman, twa former CEQ’s and its chief operating officer based on planned retirement dates.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. These policies were followed in preparing the consolidated financial statements at and
for the year ended December 31, 2006 and are consistent with the year ended December 31, 2005.

The Company has identified six significant accounting policies as critical accounting policies. These
critical accounting policies are those that have the most impact on the reporting of our financial condition and
those requiring significant judgments and estimates. With respect to these critical accounting policies,
management believes that the application of judgments and assessments is consistently applied and produces
financial information that fairly presents the results of operations for all periods presented. The six critical
accounting policies are:
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill

The Company periodically evaluates its long-lived assets, including its investments in real estate and
goodwill, for indicators of permanent impairment. The judgments regarding the existence of impairment
indicators are based on factors such as operational performance, market conditions, expected holding period of
each assct and legal and environmental concerns. Future events could occur which would cause the Company
to conclude that impairment indicators exist and an impairment toss is warranted.

Depreciation of Investment in Real Fstate

The Company depreciates the building component of its investment in real estate over a 30-ycar
estimated useful life, building improvements over a 5-year to 10-year estimated useful life and both the
furniture, fixtures and equipment and replacements components over a 5-yecar estimated useful life, all of
which are judgmental determinations.

Cost Capitalization

See the Capitalization of Fived Assets and Improvements to Real Estate section for discussion of the
policy with respect 1o capitalization vs. expensing of fixed asset/repair and maintenance costs. In addition, the
Company capitalizes the payroll and associated costs of employces directly responsible for and who spend all
of their time on the supervision of major capital and/or renovation projects. These costs are reflected on the
balance sheet as an increase to depreciable property.

The Company follows the guidance in SFAS No. 67, Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental
Operations of Real Estate Projects, for all development projects and uses its professional judgment in
determining whether such costs meet the criteria for capitalization or must be expensed as incurred. The
Company capitalizes interest, real estate taxes and insurance and payroll and associated costs for those
individuals dircctly responsible for and who spend all of their time on development activities, with
capitalization ceasing no later than 90 days following issuance of the certificate of occupancy. These costs are
reflected on the balance sheet as construction in progress for cach specific property. The Company expenses
as incurred all payroll costs of on-site employees working directly at our propertics, except as noted above on
our development properties prior to certificate of occupancy issuance and on specific major renovation at
selected properties when additional incremental employees are hired.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments, Including Derivative Instruments

The valuation of financial instruments under SFAS No. 107 and SFAS No. 133 and its amendments
(SFAS Nos. 137/138/149) requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the fair value of
the instruments. The Company, where possible, bascs the fair values of its financial instruments, including its
denvative instruments, on listed market prices and third party quotes. Where these are not available, the
Company bases its estimates on current instruments with similar 1erms and maturities or on other factors
relevant to the financial instruments,

Revenue Recognition

Rental income attributable to leases is recorded when due from residents and is recognized monthly
as it is camed, which is not materially different than on a straight-line basis. Leases entered into between a
resident and a property for the rental of an apartment unit are generally year-to-year, renewablc upon consent
of both parties on an annual or monthly basis. Fee and assel management revenuc and interest income are
recorded on an accrual basis.

15




Share-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its share-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123 (R},
Share-Based Pavment, effective January 1, 2006, which results in compensation expense being recorded
based on the fair value of the share compensation granted.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of
traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. This model is only one method of
valuing options and the Company’s use of this model should not be interpreted as an endorsement of its
accuracy. Because the Company's share options have characteristics significantly different from those of
traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can matcrially affect the fair value
estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of
the fair value of its share options and the actual value of the options may be significantly different.

Funds From Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2006, Funds From Operations (“FFO”) available to Common
Shares and OP Units decreased $68.5 million, or 8.7%, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2005.
For the year ended December 31, 2005, FFO available to Common Shares and OP Units increased $132.9
million, or 20.4%, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2004.

The following is a reconciliation of net income to FFO available to Common Shares and OP Units for
cach of the five years ended December 31, 2006:

Funds From Operations
(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Net income $1,072,844 S 861,793 5472329 $ 523311 § 400,77
Allocation to Minority Interests — Operating Partnership, net 4,201 6,796 2,624 202 2,33
Adjustments: ‘
Depreciation 562.739 439,594 380,673 3254N1 303.87
Depreciation — Non-real cstate additions (7,840) (5,541) (5,303 (6,774) (9,02
Depreciation — Partially Owned and Unconsolidated Properties 4,338 2,487 1,903 19911 12,1
Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities (370) (1,330) (4,593) (4,942) (5,05
Discontinued operations:
Depreciation 29,779 89,153 115,639 145,853 168,9
Gain on sales of discontinued operations, net of minority
interests (3) (955.863) (650,563) (296,343) (287,372) (96,31
Net incremental gain on sales of condominium units 45,800 91,611 32,054 10,280 1,6
Minority Interests — Operating Partnership 1,593 4,626 6,504 11,122 16,5
FFO (1)(2) 757,221 838,620 705,487 737.062 795.8
Preferred distributions (37.113) (49.642) (53,746) (76.435) (76,61
Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares (3,965) (4,359) - (20,237)
FFQ available to Common Shares and QP Units $ 716,143 $ 784,625 $ 651,741 $ 640,390 § 7192

(1) The National Association of Real Estate Ivestment Trusts ("NAREIT") defines finds from operations ("FFO") (April
2002 White Paper) as net income {computed in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (GAAP)), excluding gains (or losses) from sales of depreciable propertv, plus depreciation and amortization, and
after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. Adjustments for unconsolidated parmerships and
joint ventures will be calculated to reflect funds from operations on the same basis. The April 2002 White Paper states
that gain or loss on sales of property is excluded from FFO for previously depreciated operating properties only. Ouce
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the Company commencey the conversion of units to condominiums, it simultancously discomtinues depreciation of such
property.

{2t The Company believes that FFQ is helpful 10 investors as a supplemental measure of the operating performance
of a real estate company, because it is a recognized measure of performance by the real estate industry and by
excluding guins or losses related 1o dispositions of depreciable property and excluding real estate depreciation
(which can vary among owners of identical asscts in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and
useful life estimates), FFQ can help compare the operating performance of a companv's real estate between
periods or as compared io different companies. FFO in and of itself does not represent net income or net cash
flows from eperating activities in accordance with GAAP. Therefore, FFO should not be exciusively considered
as an alternative to net income or 10 net cash flows from operating activities as determined by GAAP or as a
measure of liguidity. The Company's calenlation of FFO may differ from other real estate companies due to,
among other ftems, variations in cost capitalization policies for capital expenditures and. accordingly, may not be
comparable to such other real estate companies.

3} Guin on sales of discomtinued operations, net of minovity interests, has been reduced by approximarely $4.5
million in one-time accrued retention benefits for the vear ended December 31, 2006, related to the previeusly
announced October 5, 2006 closing of the Lexford Housing Division disposition.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risks relating to the Company’s financial instruments result primarily from changes in short-
term LIBOR interest rates. The Company does not have any direct forcign exchange or other significant
market nisk.

The Company’s cxposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the
unsecurced revolving credit facilities. The Company typically incurs fixed rate debt obligations to finance
acquisitions and capital expenditures, while it typically incurs floating rate debt obligations to finance working
capital needs and as a temporary measure in advance of sccuring long-term fixed rate financing. The
Company continuously evaluates its level of floating rate debt with respect to total debt and other factors,
including its assessment of the current and future cconomic environment.

The Company also utilizes centain derivative financial instruments to limit market risk. Interest rate
protection agreements are uscd to convert floating rate debt to a fixed rate basis or vice versa. Derivatives are
used for hedging purposes rather than speculation. The Company does not enter into financial instruments for
trading purposes.  See also Note 11 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
discussion of derivative instruments.

The fair values of thc Company’s financial instruments (including such items in the financial
statement captions as cash and cash equivalents, other assets, lines of credit, accounts payable and accrued
expenses, rents received in advance and other liabilities) approximate their carrying or contract values based
on their nature, terms and interest rates that approximate current market rates. The fair value of the
Company’s mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes were approximately $3.2 billion and $4.5 billion,
respcctively, at December 31, 2006.

The Company had totai outstanding floating rate debt of approximately $1.5 billion, or 18.4% of total
debt at December 31, 2006, net of the effects of any derivative instruments. If market rates of interest on all of
the floating rate debt permanently increased by 49 basis points (a 10% increase from the Company’s existing
weighted average intcrest rates), the increase in interest expense on the floating rate debt would decrease
future carnings and cash flows by approximately $7.3 million. If market rates of intercst on all of the floating
rate debt permanently decrcased by 49 basis points (a 10% decrease from the Company’s existing weighted
average interest rates), the decrease in interest expense on the floating rate debt would increase future eamings
and cash flows by approximately $7.3 million,

At December 31, 2006, the Company had total outstanding fixed rate debt of approximately $6.6

billion, net of the cffects of any derivative instruments. If market rates of interest permanently increased by 60
basis points (a 10% increase from the Company’s existing weighted average interest rates), the estimated fair
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value of the Company’s fixed rate debt would be approximately $6.0 billion. [f market rafes of interest
permanently decreased by 60 basis points (a 10% decrease from the Company’s existing weighted average
interest rates), the estimated fair value of the Company’s fixed rate debt would be approximately 37.3 billion.

At December 31, 2006, the Company’s derivative instruments had a net liability fair value of
approximately $16.2 million. If market rates of interest permanently increased by 54 basis points (a 10%
increase from the Company’s existing weighted average interest rates), the net Jiability fair value of the
Company’s derivative instruments would be approximately $16.4 million. If market rates of interest
permanently decrcased by 54 basis points (a 10% decrease from the Company’s existing weighted average
interest rates), the net liability fair value of the Company’s derivative instruments would be approximately
$16.2 million.

The Company had total outstanding floating rate debt of approximately $1.9 billion, or 24.9% of total
debt at December 31, 2005, net of the effects of any derivative instruments. If market rates of interest on all of
the floating rate debt permanently incrcased by 37 basis points (a 10% increase from the Company’s existing
weighted average interest rates), the increase in interest expensc on the floating rate debt would decrease
future earnings and cash flows by approximately $7.1 million. [f market rates of interest on all of the floating
rate debt permanently decreased by 37 basis points (a 10% decrease from the Company’s existing weighted
average interest rates), the decrease in interest cxpensc on the floating rate debt would increase future earnings
and cash flows by approximately $7.1 million.

At December 31, 2005, the Company had total outstanding fixed rate debt of approximately $5.7
billion, net of the effects of any derivative instruments. 1f market rates of interest permanently increased by 63
basis points (a 10% increase from the Company’s existing weighted average interest rates), the estimated fair
value of the Company’s fixed ratc debt would be approximately $5.2 billion. If market rates of interest
permanently decreased by 63 basis points (a 10% decrease from the Company’s existing weighted average
interest rates), the estimated fair value of the Company’'s fixed rate debt would be approximately $6.3 billion.

At December 31, 2005, the Company’s derivative instruments had a net liability fair value of
approximately $6.0 million. If market rates of interest permanently increased by 49 basis points (a 10%
increase from the Company’s existing weighted average interest rates), the net liability fair value of the
Company’s derivative instruments would be approximately $0.1 million. If market rates of interest
permanently decreased by 49 basis points (a 10% decrease from the Company’s existing weighted average
interest rates), the net liability fair value of the Company’s derivative instruments would be approximately
$11.5 million.

Thesc amounts were determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on the
Company’s financial instruments. The foregoing assumptions apply to the entire amount of the Company’s
debt and derivative instruments and do not differentiate among maturities. These analyses do not consider the
effects of the changes in overall economic activity that could exist in such an environment. * Further, in the
event of changes of such magnitude, management would likely take actions to further mitigate its exposure to
the changes. However, due to the uncertainty of the specific actions that would be taken and their possible
effects, this analysis assumes no changes in the Company’s financial structure or results.

The Company cannot predict the effect of adverse changes in interest rates on its debt and derivative
instruments and, therefore, its exposure to market risk, nor can there be any assurance that long term debt will
be available at advantageous pricing. Consequently, future results may differ materially from the estimated
adverse changes discussed above.
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Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Effective as of December 31, 2006, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and
with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Chief Exccutive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15. Based on that evaluation, the Chicf Exccutive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by the Company in its Exchange Act filings is recorded, processed, surnmarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Equity Residential’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under the
supervision and with the participation of management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chicef Financial Officer, management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can only provide reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Based on the Company’s evaluation under the framework in Intemal Control — Integrated
Framework, management concluded that its internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2006. Management’s asscssment of the effectivencss of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006 has been audited by Emst & Young LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firmn, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes to the internal control over financial reporting of the Company identified in
connection with the Company’s evaluation referred to above that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2006

that have maltcrially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands except for share amounts)

ASSETS
[nvestment in real estate
Land
Depreciable property
Projects under development
Land held for development
Investment in real estate
Accumulated depreciation
Investment in real estate, net

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments in unconsolidated entities
Rents receivable
Deposits — restricted
Escrow deposits — mortgage
Deferred financing costs, net
Goodwill, net
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Liabilities:

Mortgage notes payable

Notes, net

Lines of credit

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accrued interest payable

Rents received in advance and other liabilities

Security deposits

Distributions payable

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Minority Interests:
Operating Partnership
‘Preference Intcrests and Units
Partially Owned Properties
Total Minority Interests

Sharcholders' equity:

Preferred Sharcs of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value;
100,000,000 shares authorized; 2,762,950 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2006 and 3,323,830 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2005

Common Shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value;
1,000,000,000 shares authorized; 293,551,633 shares issued and
cutstanding as of December 31, 2006 and 289,536,344 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2005

Paid in capital

Retained earnings (deficit)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and sharcholders’ equity

See accompanying notes
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December 31,

December 31,

2006 2005
$ 3217672 % 2,848,601
13,376,359 13,336,636
386,917 240,980
254,227 164,153
17,235,175 16,590,370
(3,022,480) (2,888,140)
14,212,695 13,702,230
260,277 88,828
4,448 6,838
39¢ 789
391,825 77,093
25,528 35,225
43,384 40,636
- 30,000
123,672 127,112

$ 15,062,219

$ 14,108,751

§ 3178223 § 3,379,289
4,419,433 3,442,784
460,000 769,000
100,605 115,543
91,172 78.441
307,651 305,536
58,072 54,823
151,382 145,812
8,766,538 8,291,228
372,961 345,034
11,684 60,184
26.814 16,965
411,459 422,183
386,574 504,096
2,936 2.895
5,349,194 5,253,188
159,528 (350.367)
(14,010) (14.472)
5.884,222 5,395,340

$ 15,062,219

$ 14,108,751




EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
{(Amounts in thousands except per share data)

REVENUES
Rental mcome
Fee and assct management

Totai revenucs

EXPENSES
Property and maintenance
Real estate taxes and insurance
Property management
Fee and asset management
Depreciation
General and administrative
Impairment

Total expenses
Operating income

Interest and other income
Interest:
Expensc incurred, net
Amortization of deferred financing costs

Income before allocation to Minority Interests, (loss) income from
investments in unconsolidated entitics, net gain on sales of
unceonsolidated entities and land parcels and discontinued operations

Allocation to Minority Interests:

Operating Partnership, net

Preference Interests and Units

Partially Owned Propertics

Premium on redemption of Preference interests

(Loss) income from investments in unconselidated entities

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities

Net gain on sales of land parcels

Inconte from continuing operations, net of minorily interests

Discontinued operations, net of minority intercsts

Net income

Preferred distributions

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares

Net income available to Common Shares

Earnings per share — basic:

Income from continuing operations available 10 Common Sharcs
Net incame available to Common Shares

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding

Earnings per share — diluted:
Income from centinuing operations available 1o Common Sharcs

Net income available to Common Shares

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding,

Distributions declared per Common Sharc outstanding

See accompanying notes
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Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
1,981,335 §  L672418 S 1.483.184
9,101 10,240 10.743
1.990.436 1.682.658 1.493.927
527,154 451,245 392.295
199,582 191,679 175,605
96.417 . $7.103 76,898
8.934 8.555 7.572
562,739 439,594 380.673
48,465 70,405 47.128
34,002 613 1538
1477293 1,249,194 1.081,700
513,143 433,464 412.218
31131 68,399 8,765
(427.952) (362.347) (307,697)
(8.302) (6.503) (5.814)
108,020 133,013 107472
4.201) (6.796) (2.624)
(2,002) (7.606) (19.490)
(3.132) 801 1,787
(684) (4,134) (L.117)
(631) 470 (7,325)
370 1330 4.593
2.792 30,245 5.482
100,532 147.323 88.778
972,312 714,470 383,551
1.072,844 861,793 472329
(37.113) (49,642) (53.746)
(3.965) (4.359) -
1,031,766 S 807.792 S 418,583
021 S 033 $ 0.13

356 S 2.83 1.50
290,019 285,760 279.744
020 8 0.32 0.12
350§ 2.79 .48
315,579 310,785 303,871
179§ 174 8 1.73




EQUITY RESIDENTIAL
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)
(Amounts in thousands except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Comprehensive income:

Net income $ 1,072,844 § 861,793 § 472329
Other comprehensive income {loss) — derivative and other instruments: : .

Unrealized holding (losses) gains arising during the year (1,785) 4,357 (3,707)
Equity in unrealized holding gains arising during the
year — unconsolidated entities - - 3,667
Losses reclassified into earnings from other comprehensive
income 2,247 2,541 2,071
Comprehensive income $ 1,073306 § 868,691 $ 474,360

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{Amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income

Allocation 1o Minority Interests:

Operating Partnership

Preference [nterests and Units

Partially QOwned Properties

Premium on redemption of Preference Interests
Depreciation
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Amortization of discounts and premiums on debt
Amortization of deferred settlements on derivative instruments
Impairment
(Income) from technology investments
Loss (income) from investments in unconsolidated entitics
Distributions from unconsolidated entities — return on capital
Net (gain) on sales of unconsolidated entities
Net (gain} on sales of land parcels
Net (gain) on sales of discontinued operations
Loss on debt extinguishments
Unrcalized loss on derivative instruments
Compensation paid with Company Commeon Shares
Other operating activitics, net

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in rents reccivable
Decrease (increase) in deposits — restricted
Decrease (increase) in other assets
(Decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Increase in accrued interest payable

Increase in sccurity deposits
Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Investment in real estate — acquisitions
Investment in real estate — development/other
Improvements to real estate
Additions to non-real estate property
[nterest capitalized for real estate under development
Interest capitalized for unconsolidated entities under development
Proceeds from disposition of real estate, net
Proceeds from disposition of unconsolidated entities
Proceeds from technology investments
Investments in unconsolidated entities
Distributions from unconsolidated entities — return of capital
(Increase) decrease in deposits on real estate acquisitions, net

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

‘ 1,072,844  § 861,793 $§ 472,329
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

72,574 58,514 31,228
2,002 7,606 19,490
3,132 (801) (1,787)
684 4,134 1,117
592,637 528,958 496,583
9,134 7,166 7,276
(6,506) (3,502) (784)
841 1,160 1,601
34.353 613 1,538
(4,021) (57,054) -
631 (470) 7,325
171 - -
(370) (1.330) {4.593)
(2,792) (30,245) (5,482)
(1,016,443) {697,655) (318,443)
12,171 10,977 113
7 10 249
22,080 35,905 16,826
555 (279 (1,432)
406 918 (628)
2,225 5.829 (6,037)
569 (21,553) (20,633)
(10,797) {10,400) (8,214)
17,192 8,171 5,176
(Decrease) increase in rents received in advance and other liabilities (50,727) (15,203) 8,032
2914 5,269 2,811
755,466 698,531 707,061
(1,718,105)  (2,229,881) (820,029)
(291,338) (164.202) (107,251
(255,180) {232,500 (212,171)
(10,652) (17.610) (6.552)
(20,734) (13,701) (11,687)
- - (2,282)
2,318,247 1,978,087 937,690
373 3,533 7,940
4,021 82,054 -
{1,072) (1,480) (406,524)
92 3,194 26,553
(296,589) (706) 58,715
10,098 683 9.144

Decrease in mortgage deposits

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(Amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (continued):

Consolidation of previously Unconsolidated Properties:

Via acquisition {(net of cash acquired)

Via FITF 04-3/FIN 46 (cash consolidated)
Acquisition of Minority Interests — Partially Owned Properties
Other investing activities, net

Net cash (used for) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Loan and bond acquisition costs
Mortgage notes payable:

Proceeds

Restricted cash

Lump sum payofts

Scheduled principal repayments

Prepayment premiums/fees
Notes, net:

Proceeds

Lump sum payofts

Scheduled principal repayments
Lines of credit:

Proceeds

Repayments
Proceeds from (payments on) scttlement of derivative instruments
Proceeds from sale of Common Shares
Proceeds from exercise of options
Common Shares repurchased and retired
Redemption of Preferred Shares
Redemption of Preference Interests
Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares
Premium on redemption of Preference Interests
Payment of offering costs
Contributions — Minority Interests — Partially Owned Properties
Distributions:

Common Shares

Preferred Shares

Preference Interests and Units

Minority Interests — Operating Partnership

Minority Interests — Partially Owned Properties

Net cash (used for) financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash cquivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

See accompanying notes
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Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
$ - 8 (62) $ (49,183)
1,436 - 3,628
(71) (1,989) (72)
2 2,379 16,802
(259,472) (592,201) __ (555.279)
(11,662) (12,816) (9,696)
267,045 280,125 467,541
(20,193) - -
(466,035) (442,786) (469,333)
(26,967) (27,607) (25,607)
(12,171) (10,977 (450)
1,039,927 499,435 898,014
(60,000 (190,000) (531,390)
(4,286) (4,286) (4,286)
6,417,500 6,291,300 1,742,000
(6,726,500)  (5,672,300)  (1,602,000)
10,722 (7,823) (7.346)
7,972 8,285 6,853
69,726 54,858 79,043
(83,230) - -
(115,000) (125,000) -
{25,500) (146,000) (40,000)
(27) (43) -
(10) (322) -
(125) (26) (24)
9,582 7,439 100
(514,055) (496,004) (484,540)
(39,344) (51,092) (54,350)
(2,054) (7,778) (19,612)
(36,202) (35,833) (36,446)
(3,658) (11,756) (26,327)
(324,545) (101,007) (117.856)
171,449 5,323 33,926
88,828 83,505 49,579
$ 260277 $ 88828 § 83,505




EQUITY RESIDENTIAL
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(Amounts in thousands)

|
|
| Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 465388 § 397.886 % 348574
Cash paid during the year for income, franchise and excise taxes $ 11,750 S 11,605 S 2.99]
Real estate acquisitions/dispositions/other:
Mortgage oans assumed S 126,988 S 443478 S 95,901
Valuation of OP Units issued § 49591 § 33662 § 9,087
Moertgage loans (assumed) by purchaser $(117,949) § (35,031) S (29.470)
Consolidation of previously Unconsolidated Properties — Via acquisition:
Investment in real estate $ - $ (5.608) 5 (960.331)
Mortgage loans assumed 5 - $ 2839 $ 274818
Minority Interests — Partially Owned Properties 3 - 5 39 N 445
[nvestments in unconsolidated entities 3 - § 1,176 § 608681
Nut other liabilities recorded $ - 147 £ 27.204

Consolidation of previously Unconsolidated Properties — Via EITF 04-5/FIN 46:

Investment in real estate, net 3 (24.637) 3 - $(548,342)
Mortgage loans consolidated $ 22545 3 -8 204722
Minority Interests — Partially Owned Properties 5 - 3 -8 3.074
Investments in unconsolidated entities 3 2,602 S - 8§ 234984
Net other liabilities recorded 3 926 S - S 19490
Refinancing of mortgage notes payable into notes, net 3 - $ = 8 130.000

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

{Amounts in thousands)

PREFERRED SHARES

Balance. beginning of year
Redemption of 9 1/8% Series B Cumulative Redeemable
Redemption of 9 i/8% Series C Cumulative Redeemable
Conversion of 7.00% Series E Cumulative Convertible
Conversion of 7.00% Series H Cumulative Convertible

Balance, end of year

COMMON SHARES, 50.01 PAR VALUE

Balance, beginning of year
Conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Shares
Conversion of Preference Interests into Common Shares
Conversion of OP Units into Common Shares
Exercise of share options
Employce Share Purchase Plan (ESPP)
Share-based employee compensation expense:
Restricted/performance shares
Common Shares repurchased and retired
Balance, end of year

PAID IN CAPITAL

Balance, beginning of year
Common Share [ssuance:
Conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Shares
Conversion of Preference Interests into Common Shares
Conversion of OP Units into Common Shares
Exercise of share options
Employee Sharc Purchase Plan (ESPP)

Share-based employee compensation expense:
Performance shares
Restricted shares
Share options
ESPP discount
Common Shares repurchased and retired
Offering costs

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares — original issuance costs
Premium on redemption of Preference Interests ~ original issuance costs

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP)

Adjustment for Minority Interests ownership in Operating Partnership

Balance, end of year

See accompanying notes
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Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
504006 § 636216 § 670,913
) (125,000) -
-(115,000) - -
(2,357) (7,065) (34,519)
(165) (55) (178)
386,574 $ 504,09 $ 636216
2,895 $ 2,851 % 2,776
1 3 16
7 - -
17 " 17
27 22 34
2 3 3
6 5 5
(19) - -
2936 $ 2,895 $ 2,851
5253188 S 5112311 $ 4,956,712
2,521 7,117 34,681
22,993 . -
27,865 24,185 36,903
69,699 54,836 79,009
7,970 8,282 6,850
1,795 7,697 224
14,938 20,032 8,789
5,198 6,562 2,982
1,578 1,591 1,290

(83,211) -

(125) (26) (24)
3,938 4316 .
674 3,812 (117
(9,947) @177 (8,705)
30,120 6,630 (1,517)
5349194 $ 5,253,i88 § 5,142,311




EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Continued)

DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Balance, beginning of ycar

Amortization to compensation expense:

Performance shares
Restricted shares
Balance, end of year

RETAINED EARNINGS (DEFICIT)

Balance, beginning of year
Net income
Commeon Share distribmions
Preferred Share distributions

(Amounts in thousands)

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares — cash charge

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares — original issuance costs

Balance, end of year

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Balance, beginning of year

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) — derivative and other

Unrealized holding {losses) gains arising during the year
Equity in unrealized holding gains arising during the year

— unconsolidated entities

Losses reclassified into earnings from other comprehensive income

Balance, end of year

See accompanying notes
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Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
$ -3 (18) §  (3,554)
- - 88

] 18 3,448

$ - 3 -8 (18)
$ (350,367) $ (657.462) $ (588,005)
1,072,844 861,793 472,329
(521,871)  (500,697)  (488,040)
(37,113) (49,642) (53,746)

(27) (43) -
(3.938) (4.316) -

$ 159,528 § (350,367) § (657,462)
$  (14472) §  (21370) § (23.401)
{1,785) 4,357 (3,707)

- - 3,667

2,247 2,541 2.071

S (14010) § (14472) $ (21.370)




EQUITY RESIDENTIAL
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Business

Equity Residential ("EQR"), a Maryland real estate investnent trust (“REIT”) formed in March 1993,
is an S&P 500 company focused on the acquisition, development and management of high quality apartment
properties in top United States growth markets. EQR has elected to be taxed as a REIT.

EQR is the general partner of, and as of December 31, 2006 owned an approximate 93.6% ownership
interest in, ERP Operating Limited Partnership, an Illinois limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership™).
The Company is structured as an umbrella partnership REIT (“UPREIT”), under which all property ownership
and business operations are conducted through the Operating Partnership and its subsidiarics. Refcrences to
the “Company” include EQR, the Operating Partership and those entities owned or controlled by the
Operating Partnership and/or EQR.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company, directly or indirectly through investments in title holding
entities, owned all or a portion of 617 properties in 25 states and the District of Columbia consisting of

165,716 units. The ownership breakdown includes (table does not include various uncompleted development
properties):

Properties Units
Wholly Owned Propertics 546 146,442
Partially Owned Properties:
Consolidated 25 4,873
Unconsolidated 45 10,846
Military Housing (Fee Managed) 1 3,555
617 165,716

The “Wholly Owned Propertics” are accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting.
The Company beneficially owns 100% fee simple title to 545 of the 546 Wholly Owned Properties. The
Company owns the building and improvements and lcases the land underlying the improvements under a
long-term ground lease that expires in 2026 for onc property. This one property is consolidated and
reflected as a real estate asset while the ground lease is accounted for as an operating leasc in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 13, Accounting Jfor Leases.

The “Partially Owned Properties - Consolidated” are controlled by the Company but have partners
with minority intercsts and are accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting. The “Partiaily
Owned Propertics - Unconsolidated™ are partially owned but not controlled by the Company and consist of
investments in partnership interests and/or subordinated mortgages that are accounted for under the equity
method of accounting. The *“Military Housing (Fee Managed)” property consists of an investment in a limited
liability company that, as a result of the terms of the operating agrecment, is accounted for as a management
contract right with all fecs recognized as fee and asset management revenue.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

Due to the Company's ability as general partner to control either through ownership or by contract the
Operating Partnership and its subsidiarics, other than entitics that own controlling interests in the
Partiatly Owned Propertics - Unconsolidated and certain other entities in which the Company has investments,
the Operating Partnership and each such subsidiary has been consolidated with the Company for financial
reporting purposes. Effective March 31, 2004, the consolidated financial statements also include all
variable interest entities for which the Company is the primary beneficiary.
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The Company’s mergers and acquisitions were accounted for as purchases in accordance with
either Accounting Principles Board (“APB™) Opinion No. 16, Business Combinations, or SFAS No. 141,
Business Combinations. SFAS No. 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 be
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The fair value of the consideration given by the
Company in the mergers were used as the valuation basis for each of the combinations. The
accompanying consolidated statcments of operations and cash flows include the results of the propertics
purchased through the mergers and through acquisitions from their respective closing dates.

Real Estate Assets and Depreciation of Investment in Real Estate

The Company allocates the purchase price of properties to net tangible and identified intangible asscts
acquired based on their fair values in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 141, In making estimates
of fair values for purposes of allocating purchase price, the Company utilizes a number of sources, including
indcpendent appraisals that may be obtained in connection with the acquisition or financing of the respective
property, our own analysis of recently acquired and existing comparable propertics in our portfolio, and other
market data. The Company also considers information obtained about each property as a result of its pre-
acquisition due diligence, marketing and leasing activities in estimating the fair value of the tangible and
intangible assets acquired. The Company allocates the purchase price of acquired real estate to various
components as follows: <

* Land - Based on actual purchase price if acquired separately or market rescarch/comparables
if acquired with an operating property.

*  Furmiture, Fixtures and Equipment ~ Ranges between $8,000 and $13,000 per apartment unit
acquired as an estimate of the fair value of the appliances & fixtures inside a unit. The per-
unit amount applied depends on the type of apartment building acquired. Depreciation is
calculated on the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of five years.

¢ I[n-Place Lcases — The Company considers the value of acquired in-place leases that meet the
definition outlined in SFAS No. 141, paragraph 37. The amortization period is the average
remaining term of each respective in-place acquired lease.

*  Other Intangible Asscts — The Company considers whether it has acquired other intangible
assets that meet the definition outlined in SFAS No. 141, paragraph 39, including any
customer relationship intangibles. The amortization period is the estimated useful life of the
acquired intangible assct.

e Building — Based on the fair value determined on an "as-if vacant” basis. Depreciation is
calculated on the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of thirty years.

Replacements inside a unit such as appliances and carpeting are depreciated over a five-year
estimated uscful life. Expenditures for ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed to operations as
incurred and significant renovations and improvements that improve and/or extend the useful life of the
asset are capitalized over their estimated useful life, generally five to ten years. Initial direct leasing costs
arc cxpensed as incurred as such expense approximates the deferral and amortization of initial direct
leasing costs over the lcase terms. Property sales or dispositions are recorded when title transfers to
unrclated third parties, contingencies have been removed and sufficient cash consideration has been
received by the Company. Upon disposition, the related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed
from the respective accounts. Any gain or loss on sale is recognized in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States.

The Company classifies real estate assets as real estatc held for disposition when it is certain a
property will be disposed of in accordance with SFAS No. 144 (sec further discussion below).

The Company classifies properties under development and/or expansion and properties in the lease up

phase (including land) as construction in progress until construction has been completed and all certificates of
occupancy permits have been obtained.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 142, Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142 prohibits the amortization of goodwill and requires that goodwill -
be reviewed for impairment at least annually. In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. SFAS Nos. 142 and 144 were effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2001. The Company adopted these standards effective January 1, 2002, See
Notes 13 and 19 for further discussion.

The Company periodically evaluates its long-lived assets, including its investments in rcal estate
and goodwill, for indicators of permanent impairment. The judgments regarding the existence of
impairment indicators are based on factors such as operational performance, market conditions, expected
holding period of each asset and legal and environmental concerns. Future events could occur which
would cause the Company to conclude that impairment indicators exist and an impairment loss is
warranted.

For long-lived assets to be held and used, the Company compares the expected future
undiscounted cash flows for the long-lived asset against the carrying amount of that asset. If the sum of
the estimated undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset, the Company further
analyzes each individual asset for other temporary or permanent indicators of impairment. An
impairment loss would be recorded for the difference between the estimated fair value and the carrying
amount of the asset if the Company deems this difference to be permanent.

For long-lived assets to be disposed of, an impairment loss is recognized when the estimated fair
value of the asset, less the estimated cost to sell, is less than the cartying amount of the asset measured at
the time that the Company has determined it will sell the asset. Long-lived assets held for disposition and
the related liabilities are separately reported at the lower of their carrying amounts or their estimated fair
values, less their costs to sell, and are not depreciated after reclassification to real estate held for
disposition.

Cost Capitalization

Sec the Real Estate Assets and Depreciation of Investment in Real Estate section for discussion of
the policy with respect to capitalization vs. expensing of fixed asset/repair and maintenance COSIS. In
addition, the Company capitalizes the payroll and associated costs of employees directly responsible for
and who spend all of their time on the supervision of major capital and/or renovation projects. These
costs are reflected on the balance sheet as an increase to depreciable property.

The Company follows the guidance in SFAS No. 67, Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental
Operations of Real Estate Projects, for all development projects and uses its professional judgment in
determining whether such costs meet the criteria for capitalization or must be expensed as incurred. The
Company capitalizes interest, real estate taxes and insurance and payroll and associated costs for those
individuals dircctly responsible for and who spend all of their time on development activities, with
capitalization ceasing no later than 90 days following issuance of the certificate of occupancy. These
costs are reflected on the balance sheet as construction in progress for each specific property. The
Company expenses as incurred all payroll costs of on-site employees working directly at our properties,
except as noted above on our development propetties prior to certificate of occupancy issuance and on
specific major renovation at selected properties when additional incremental employees are hired.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all demand deposits, money market accounts and investments in certificates
of deposit and repurchase agreements purchased with a maturity of threc months or less, at the date of
purchase, to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at financial
institutions.  The combined account balances at one or more institutions typically c¢xceed the Federal
Depository Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insurance coverage, and, as a result, there is a concentration of
credit risk related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage. The Company believes that
the risk is not significant, as the Company does not anticipate the financial institutions’ non-performance.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs include fees and costs incurred to obtain the Company's lines of credit and
long-term financings. These costs are amortized over the terms of the related debt. Unamortized financing
costs are written-off when debt is retired before the maturity date. The accumulated amortization of such
deferred financing costs was $24.5 million and $18.3 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments, Including Derivative Instruments

The valuation of financial instruments under SFAS No. 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of
Financial Instruments, and SFAS No. 133 and its amendments (SFAS Nos. 137/138/149), Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, requires the Company to make estimates and judgments
that affect the fair value of the instruments. The Company, where possible, bases the fair values of its
financial instruments, including its derivative instruments, on listed market prices and third party quotes.
Where these are not available, the Company bases its estimates on current instruments with similar terms
and maturities or on other factors relevant to the financial instruments,

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to the effect of interest ratc changes.
The Company limits these risks by following established risk management poticies and procedures
including the usc of derivatives to hedge interest rate risk on debt instruments,

The Company has a policy of only entering into contracts with major financial institutions based
upon their credit ratings and other factors. When viewed in conjunction with the underlying and
offsetting exposure that the derivatives are designed to hedge, the Company has not sustained a material
loss from those instruments nor docs it anticipate any material adverse effect on its net income or
financial position in the future from the vse of derivatives.

On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133 and its amendments (SFAS Nos.
137/138/149), which requires an entity to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the
statement of financial position and to measure those instruments at fair value, Additionally, the fair value
adjustments will affect either shareholders” equity or net income depending on whether the derivative
instruments qualify as a hedge for accounting purposes and, if so, the nature of the hedging activity.
When the terms of an underlying transaction arc modified, or when the underlying transaction is
terminated or completed, all changes in the fair value of the instrument are marked-to-market with
changes in value included in net income each period until the instrument matures. Any derivative
instrument used for risk management that does not meet the hedging criteria of SFAS No. 133 is marked-
to-market cach period. The Company does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.
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The fair value of the Company’s mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes were approximately
$3.2 billion and $4.5 billion, respectively, at December 31, 2006. The fair values of the Company’s financial
instruments, other than mortgage notes payable, unsecured notes and derivative instruments, including cash
and cash equivalents, lines of credit and other financial instruments, approximate their carrying or contract
values. See Note 11 for further discussion of derivative instruments.

Revenue Recognition

Rental income attributable to leases is recorded when due from residents and is recognized monthly
as it is earned, which is not materially diffcrent than on a straight-line basis. Leascs entcred nto between a
resident and a property, for the rental of an apartment unit, are generally year-to-year, renewable upon consent
of both parties on an annual or monthly basis. Fee and asset management revenue and interest income are
recorded on an accrual basis.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, as required cffective January 1,
2006. SFAS No. 123(R) requires all companies to expense share-based compensation (such as share
options), as well as making other revisions to SFAS No. 123. As thc Company began expensing all
share-based compensation effective January 1, 2003, the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) did not have a
material effect on its consolidated statements of operations or financial position.

The cost related to share-based employee compensation included in the determination of net
income for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 is equal to that which would have been
recognized if the fair value based method had been applied to all awards since the original effective date
of SFAS No. 123. The cost related to share-based employee compensation included in the determination
of net income for the year ended December 31, 2004 is less than that which would have been recognized
if the fair value based method had been applied to all awards since the original effective date of SFAS No.
123. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and carnings per share if the fair value based
method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested awards for the year ended December 31, 2004
(amounts in thousands except per share amounts):

32




Year Ended

December 31, 2004
Net income available to Common Shares — as reported s » 418,583
Add: Share-based employee conﬁben_sation expense
included in reported net income:
Performance shares ‘ 312
Restricted shares 12,242
Share options , : 2,982
ESPP discount . ] . 1,290
Deduct: Share-based employee compensation expense
" determined under fair value based method for all awards:

. Performance shares, (312)
Restricted shares (12,242)
Share options ' (5,385)
ESPP discount {1,290)

Net income available to Common Shares — pro forma $ 416,180
Earnings per share:
Basic — as reported $ 1.50
Basic — pro forma $ 1.49
Diluted — as reported $ 1.48
Diluted — pro forma b 1.47

The fair value of the option grants as computed under SFAS No. 123 would be recognized over the
vesting period of the options. "The fair value for the Company’s share options was estimated at the time the
share options were granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions: : - :

2006 2005 2004

Expected volatility ‘ 19.1% 18.2% 20.6%
Expected life | 6 years 6 years 5 years
Expected dividend yield 6.04% 6.37% 6.52%
Risk-free interest rate 4.52% 381% 3.03%
Option valuation per share $4.22 $2.64 $2.26

The valuation method and assumptions are the same as those the Company used in accounting for
option expense in its consolidated financial statements. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was
developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully
transferable. This model is only one method of valuing options and the Company’s use of this model shouid
not be interpreted as an endorsement of its accuracy. Because the Company’s share options have
characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing models do not
necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its share options and the actual value of the
options may be significantly ditferent.
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Income Taxes

Due to the structure of the Company as a REIT and the nature of the operations of its operating
properties, no provision for federal income taxes has been made at the EQR level. Historically, the Company
has generally only incurred certain state and local income, excise and franchise taxes. The Company has
clected Taxable REIT Subsidiary (“TRS”) status for certain of its corporate subsidiaries, primarily those
entities engaged in condominium conversion and sale activities and as a result, these entities incurred federal
and state income taxes, -

The Company provided for current income, franchise and excise taxes allocated as follows in the
consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 (amounts in
thousands): B ’

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
General and administrative (1) $ 4263 § 3,949 § 2,432
Discontinued operations, net of minority interests (2) 3,630 - 9,604 917
Provision for income, franchise and excise taxes $ 7893 § 13553 § 3,349

{1) Primarily includes state and local income, excise and franchise taxes. In 2006, also includes $2.9 million of federal
income taxes related to a forfeited deposit on a terminated sale transaction and included in income from continuing
operations. In 20035, also includes $2.0 million of federal income taxes related to the sale of land parcels owned by a
TRS and included in income from continuing operations. .

{2) Primarily represents federal income taxes incurred on the gains on sales of condominium units owned by a TRS and
included in discontinued operations. Also represents state and local income, excise and franchise taxes on operating
properties sold and included in discontinued operations.

The Corripany utilized approximately $43.9 million of et operating losses (“NOL”) during the year
ended December 31, 2005 and had no NOL panyfqrwards available as of January 1, 2007 or 2006.

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s tax treatment of
dividends and distributions were as follows: .

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Tax treatment of dividends and distributions: -
Ordinary dividends $ 1276 $ 0902 §$ 1104
Qualified dividends B 0.090 0.070 0.003
Long-term capital gain 0.330 0.669 0.432
Unrecaptured section 1250 gain ' 0.054 0.099 0.151
Nontaxable distributions - - 0.040
Dividends and distributions declared per Common .
" Share outstanding N o $ 1790 S 1.740 _$  1.730

The aggregate cost of land and-depreciable property for federal income tax purposes as of December
31, 2006 and 2005 was approximately $10.2 billion and $9.4 billion, respectively. :
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Minority Interests
Operating Partnership: Net income is allocated to minority interests based on their respective
ownership percentage.of the Operating Partnership. The ownership percentage is calculated by dividing the
number of units of limited partnership interest (““OP Units”) held by the minority interests by the total OP
Units held by the minority interests and EQR. Issuance of additional common shares of beneficial interest,
$0.01 par value per share (the “Common Shares™), and OP Units changes the ownership interests of both the
minority interests and EQR. Such transactions and the proceeds are treated as capital transactions.

Partially Owned Propertics: The Company reflects minority interests in partially owned properties on
the balance sheet for the portion of properties consolidated by the Company that are not wholly owned by the
Company. The earnings or losses from those propertics attributable to the minority interests are reflected as
minority interests in partially owned properties in the consolidated statements of operations.

Use of Estimates

In preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted.in the United States, management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actal
results could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications considered necessary for a fair presentation have been made to the prior
period.financial statements in order to conform to the current year presentation. These reclassifications have
not changed the results of operations or shareholders’ equity.

Other

The Company adopted FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities, as required, effective March 31, 2004. The adoption required the.consolidation of all previously
unconsolidated development projects. FIN No. 46 requires the Company to consolidate the assets,
liabilities and results of operations of the activities of a variable interest entity, which for the Company
includes only its-development partnerships, if the Company is entitled to receive a majority of the entity’s
residual returns and/or is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from such entity’s activities. Due to the
March 31, 2004 effective date, the Company has only consolidated the results of operations beginning
April 1, 2004, The adoption of FIN No. 46 did not have any effect on net income as the aggregate results
of operations of these development properties were previously included in income (loss) from
investments in unconsolidated entities.

The Company adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 150 and FSP No. FAS 150-3,
Accounting: for' Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity,
effective December 31, 2003. SFAS No. 150 and FSP No. FAS 150-3 require the Company to make
certain disclosures regarding noncontrolling interests that are classified as equity in the financial
statements of a subsidiary but would be classified as a liability in the parent’s financial statements under
SFAS No. 150 (e.g., minority interests in consolidated limited-life subsidiaries). The Company is
presently the controlling partner in various consolidated partnerships consisting of 25 properties and
4,873 units and various uncompleted development properties having a minority interest book value of
$26.8 million at December 31, 2006. Some of these partnerships contain provisions that require the
partnerships to be liquidated through the sale of its assets upon reaching a date specified in each
respective partmership agreement. The Company, as controlliing partner, has an obligation to cause the
property owning partnerships to distribute proceeds of liquidation to the Minority Interests in these
Partially Owned Properties only to the extent that the net proceeds received by the partnerships from the
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sale of its assets warrant a distribution based on the partnership agreements. As of December 31, 2006,
the Company estimates the valuc of Minority Interest distributions would have been approximately
$106.7 million (“Settlement Valuc™) had the parinerships been liquidated. This Settlement Value is based
on cstimated third party consideration realized by the partnerships upon disposition of the Partially
Owned Propertics and is net of all other assets and liabilities, including yield maintenance on the
mortgages encumbering the properties, that would have been due on December 31, 2006 had those
mortgages been prepaid. Due to, among other things, the inherent uncertainty in the sale of real cstate
assets, the amount of any potential distribution to the Minority Interests in the Company’s Partially
Owned Properties is subject to change. To the extent that the partnerships’ underlying assets are worth
less than the underlying liabilitics, the Company has no obligation to remit any consideration to the
Minority Interests in Partially Owned Propertics.

The Company adopted EITF Issue No. 04-5, Determining Whether a General Partner, or the
General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited
Partners Have Certain Rights (Issue “04-57), effective January 1, 2006. Issue 04-5 provides guidance in
determining whether a general partner controls a limited partnership. The Company consolidated its
Lexford syndicated portfolio consisting of 20 separate partnerships (10 properties) containing 1,272 units,
all of which were sold October 5, 2006, The adoption did not have a material effect on the results of
operations or financial position. See Note 4 for further discussion of the adoption of EITF Issue No. 04-
5.

In March 2005, the FASB issued FIN No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations, an interpretation of SFAS No. 143, Asset Retirement Obligations. A conditional asset
retirement obligation refers to a legal obligation to retire assets where the timing and/or method of
scttlement are conditioned on future events. FIN No. 47 requires an entity to recognize a liability for the
fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the liability’s fair vaiue can be
reasonably estimated. The Company adopted the provisions of FIN No. 47 for the year ended December
31, 2005. The adoption did not have a matcrial impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

In July 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus in FIN No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes. FIN No. 48 creates a single model to address uncertainty in income tax positions and
prescribes a minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet before being recognized in
the financial statements. It also provides guidance on derccognition, measurement, classification, interest
and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition and, clearly scopes income taxes
out of SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. The Company will adopt FIN No. 48 as required
effective January 1, 2007. While still under review, based on analyses completed and knowledge of the
Company’s tax positions to date, adoption of FIN No. 48 is not cxpccted to have a material effect on the
consolidated results of operations or financial position.

3 Shareholders' Equity and Minority Interests

The following tables present the changes in the Company's issued and outstanding Common Shares
and OP Units for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:
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2006 2005 2004
Common Shares outstanding at January 1, 289,536,344 285,076,915 277,643,885
Common Shares [ssued: )
Conversion of Series E Preferred Shares 104,904 314,485 1,536,501
Conversion of Series H Preferred Shares. 9,554 3,182 10,268
Conversion of Series H and 1 Preference Interests 679,686 - -
Conversion of OP Units 1,653,988 1,085,446 1,744,463
Exercise of options 2,647,776 2,248,744 3,350,759
Employee Share Purchase Plan 213,427 286,751 275,616
Dividend Reinvestment — DRIP Plan 169 - -
Restricted share grants, net 603,697 520,821 515,622
Common Shares Other:;
Repurchased and retired (1,897,912) - -
Other - - {199)
Common Shares outstanding at December 31, 293,551,633 289,536,344 285,076,915
2006 2005 2004
OP Units outstanding at January 1, 20,424,245 20,552,940 21,907,732
OP Units Issued:
Acquisitions/consolidations 1,144,326 956,751 306,694
Conversion of Series A Junior Preference Units - - 82,977
Conversion of OP Units to Cornmon Shares (1,653,988) (1,085,446) (1,744,463)
OP Units Outstanding at December 31, 19,914,583 20,424,245 20,552,940
Total Common Shares and OP Units Qutstanding at December 31, 313,466,216 309,960,589 305,629,855
OP Units Ownership Interest in Operating Partnership 6.4% 6.6% 6.7%
OP Units Issued:
Acquisitions/consolidations — per unit $43.34 $35.18 $29.63
Acquisitions/consolidations — valuation $49.6 million  $33.7 million  $9.1 million
Conversion of Series A Junior Preference Units — per unit - - $24.50
Conversion of Serics A Junior Preference Units — valuation - - $2.0 million

In February 1998, the Company filed and the SEC declared effective a Form S-3 Registration
Statement to register $1.0 billion of equity securities. In addition, the Company carried over $272.4
million related to a prior registration statement. As of February 7, 2007, $956.5 million in equity
securities remained available for issuance under this registration statement.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company repurchased 1,897,912 of its Common
Shares on the open market at an average price of $43.85 per share. The Company paid approximately $83.2
million for these shares, which were retired subsequent to the repurchase.

The equity positions of various individuals and entities that contributed their properties to the
Operating Partnership in exchange for OP Units are collectively referred to as the "Minority Interests —
Operating Partnership”.  Subject to certain restrictions, the Minority Interests — Operating Partnership may
exchange their OP Units for EQR Common Shares on a one-for-one basis.

Net proceeds from the Company's Common Share and Preferred Share (see definition below)
offerings are contributed by the Company to the Operating Partnership. In return for those contributions,
EQR receives a number of OP Units in the Operating Partnership equal to the number of Common Shares it
has issued in the equity offering (or in the case of a preferred equity offering, a number of preference units in
the Operating Partnership equal in number and having the same terms as the Preferred Shares issued in the
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cquity offering). As a result, the net offering proceeds from Common Shares and Preferred Shares are
allocated between sharcholders’ equity and Minority Interests - Operating Partnership to account for the
change in their respective percentage ownership of the underlying equity of the Operating Partnership.

The Company’s declaration of trust authorizes the Company to issuc up to 100,000,000 preferred
shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share (the “Preferred Sharcs™), with specific rights,
preferences and other attributes as the Board of Trustees may determine, which may include preferences,
powers and rights that are senior to the rights of holders of the Company’s Common Shares.

The following table presents the Company's issued and outstanding Preferred Shares as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Annual Amaunts in thousands
Dividend
Redemption  Conversion  per Share December December
Date (1) (2) Rate (2) (3) 31, 2006 31 2005
Preferred Sharcs of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value;
100,000,000 shares authorized:
9 1/8% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liguidation 9/9/06 N/A (5} $ - $ 115,000
value $250 per sharc: ¢ and 460.000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively
8 60% Scries D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liguidation 7/15/07 N/A $21.50 175,000 175,000
value $250 per share; 700,000 shares issued and cutstanding ’
at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 (4)
7.00% Serics E Cumulative Convertible Preferred; liquidation 11/1/98 1.1128 $1.75 10,871 13,228
value $25 per share; 434,816 and 529,096 sharcs issucd and
outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2003,
respectively
7.00% Serics H Cumulative Convertible Preferred; liquidation 6/30/98 1.4480 $1.75 703 868
value $25 per share; 28,134 and 34,734 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005,
respectively :
8,299, Series K Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liguidation 12/10/26 N/A 54.145 50,000 50,000

value $50 per share: 1,000,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005

6.489% Series N Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liquidation 6/19/08 N/A 516.20 150,000 150,000
value $250 per share: 600,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 (4)

§ 386,574 § 504,096

(1) On or after the redemption date, redecmable preferred shares (Series D, K and N) may be redeemed for cash at the option of the
Company, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the liquidation price per share, plus accrued and unpaid distributions, if
any.

(2} On or after the redemption date, convertible preferred shares (Serics E & H) may be redeemed under certain circumstances at the
option of the Company for cash {in the case of Series E) or Common Shares (in the case of Series H), in whole or in part, at various
redemption prices per share based upon the contractual conversion rate, plus accrued and unpaid distributions, if any.

,
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(3) Dividends on all series of Preferred Shares are payable quartcrly at various pay dates. Dividend rates listed for Series D and N are
Preferred Sharc rates and the equivalent Depositary Share annuat dividends are $2.15 and $1.62 per share, respectively.

(4) Series D and N Preferred Shares each have a corresponding depositary share that consists of ten times the number of shares and one-
tenth the liquidation vaive and dividend per share.

(5) On August 9, 2006, the Company issued an irrevocable notice to redeem for cash on September 11, 2006 all 460,000 shares of its 9
1/8% Series C Preferred Shares. The Company recorded approximately $4.0 million as a premium on redemption of Preferred Shares
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company redeemed for cash all 500,000 shares of its
Series B Preferred Shares with a liquidation value of $125.0 million. Additionally, the Company recorded the
write-off of approximately $4.3 million in original issuance costs as a premium on redemption of Preferred
Shares in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The following table presents the issued and outstanding Preference Interests as of December 31, 2006
and December 31, 2005:

Annual  Amounts in thousands

Dividend
Redemption  Conversion — per Unit  December  December
Date (I)2) _ Rate (2) 3) 3, 2006 31 2005

reference Interests:

7.875% Series G Cumulative Redeemable Preference Units; 03/21/06 N/A (4) $ - % 25500
liquidation value $50 per unit; 0 and 510,000 units issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively

7.625% Series H Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preference 03/23/06 1.5108 (5 - 9.500
Units; liquidation value $50 per unit; 0 and 190,000 units issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2003, respectively

7.625% Series I Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preference 06/22/06 1.4542 {6) - 13,500
Units; liguidation value $50 per unit; 0 and 270,000 units issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively

7.625% Series ] Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preference 12/14/06 1.4108 $3.8125 11,500 11,500
Units; liquidation value $50 per unit; 230,000 units issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005

§ 11,500 $ 60,000

{1) On or after the fifth anniversary of the respective issuance (the “Redemption Date™), all of the Preference Interests may be
redeemed for cash at the option of the Company, in whole or in part, at any time or from time 10 time, at a redemption price equal
to the tiquidation preference of $50.00 per unit plus the cumulative amount of acerued and unpaid distributions, if any.

(2) On or after the tenth anniversary of the respective issuance (the “Conversion Date™), all of the Preference Interests are
exchangeable at the option of the holder (in whole but not in part) on a one-for-one basis for a respective reserved series of EQR
Preferred Shares. In addition, on or after the Conversion Date, the convertible Preference Interests may be converted under certain
circumstances at the option of the holder {in whole but not in part) to Common Shares based upon the contractual conversion rate,
plus accrued and unpaid distributions, if any. Prier to the Conversion Date, the convertible Preference Interests may be converted
under certain circumstances at the option of the holder (in whole but not in part) to Common Shares based upon the contractual
conversion rate, plus accrued and unpaid distributions, if any, if the issuer has called the series for redemption (the “Accelerated
Conversion Right”).

(3) Dividends on all series of Preference Interests are payable quarterly on March 25%, Junc 25%, September 25, and December 25"
of each year.

(4) On February 15, 2006, the Company issued an irrevocable notice to redeem for cash on March 21, 2006 all 510,000 units of its
7.875% Series G Preference Interests with a liguidation value of $25.5 million. The company recorded approximately $0.7
million as a premium on redemption of Preference Interests (Minority Interests) in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations,
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(5) On February 15, 2006, the Company issued an irrevocable notice to redeem for cash on March 23, 2006 all 190,000 units of its
7.625% Series H Preference Interests with a liquidation value of $9.5 million. This notice triggered the holder’s Accelerated
Conversion Right, which they excrcised. As a result, effective March 23, 2006, the 190,000 units were converted to 287,052
Common Shares.

(6) On May 16, 2006, the Company issued an irrevocable notice to redeem for cash on June 22, 2006 all 270,000 units of its
7 625% Scrics 1 Preference interests with a liquidation value of $13.5 millien, This notice triggered the holder’s
Accelerated Conversion Right, which they excrcised. As a result, effective June 22, 2006, the 270,000 units werc
converted to 392,634 Common Shares.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company redeemed or repurchased for cash all of its Series
B through F Preference Interests with a liquidation value of $146.0 million. The Company recorded approximately
$4.1 million as premiums on redemption of Preference Interests (Minority Interests) in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations, which included $3.8 million in original issnance costs and $0.3 million in
cash redemption charges.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company redeemed for cash all 800,000 units of it 8.00%
Series A Preference Interests with a liquidation value of $40.0 million. The Company recorded approximately $1.1
million as premiums on redemption of Preference Interests (Minority Interests) in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

The following table presents the Operating Partnership’s issued and outstanding Junior
Convertible Preference Units (the “Junior Preference Units”) as of December 31, 2006 and December 31,

2005:
Annual Amounts in thousands
Dividend
Redemption  Conversion  per Unit  December  December
Date (2) Rate (2) (i) 31, 2000 31, 2005
Junior Preference Units: '
Series B Junior Convertible Preference Units; liquidation 07/29/09 1.020408 $2.00 $ 184 $ 184

value $25 per unit; 7,367 units issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2003

$ 184 $ 184

1) Dividends on the Junior Preference Units arc payable quarterly at various pay dates.
A\ P

(2) On or after the tenth anniversary of the issuance (the “Redemption Date”), the Series B Junier Preference Units
may be converted into OP Units at the option of the Operating Partnership based on the contractual conversion
rate. Prior to the Redemption Date, the holders may clect to convert the Series B Junior Preference Units to OP
Units under certain circumstances basexd on the contractual conversion rate. The contractual rate is based upon &
ratio dependent upon the closing price of EQR’s Common Shares.

4, Real Estate

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts for investment in real estate (at cost) as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005 (Amounts in thousands):

40




2006 2005

Land $ 3217672 $ 2,848,601
Depreciable property:

Buildings and improvements 12,563,807 12,583,020

Fumiture, fixtures and equipment 812,552 753,616
Projects under development:

Land 125,496 90,261

Construction-in-progress 261,421 150,719
Land held for development:

Land 214,704 148,234

Construction-in-progress 39,523 15,919
Investiment in real estate 17,235,175 16,590,370
Accumulated depreciation (3,022,430) (2,888,140)

Investment in real estate, nct $ 14,212,695 $ 13,702,230

During the yecar ended December 31, 2006, the Company acquired the entire equity interest in 35
propcmes containing 8,768 units and nine land parcels from unaffiliated parties for a total purchase price of
$1.9 billion. The Company also acquired the majority of its partners’ interest in eighteen partially owned
properties containing 1,643 units for $56.6 million, partially funded through the issuance of 417,039 OP Units
valued at $18.6 million.

The Company adopted EITF Issue No. 04-5, as required for existing limited partnership
arrangements, effective January 1, 2006. The adoption required the consolidation of the Lexford
syndicated portfolio consisting of 20 separate partnerships (10 properties) containing 1,272 units, all of
which were sold October 5, 2006. The Company recorded $24.6 million in investment in real estatc and
also:

Consolidated $22.5 million in mortgage debt;

Reduced investments in unconsolidated entities by $2.6 million:
Consolidated $0.9 miilion of other liabilities net of other assets acquired; and
Consolidated $1.4 million of cash.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company acquired the entire equity interest in forty-
one properties containing 12,059 units, inclusive of one additional unit at one existing property, and seven
land parcels from unaffiliated parties for a total purchase price of $2.7 billion.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company also acquired a majority interest in the
remaining equity interests it did not previously own in sixteen Partially Owned Properties, all of which
remain partially owned. The acquisitions were funded using $24.2 million in cash and through the
issuance of 614,717 OP Units valued at $20.8 million, with $43.0 million recorded as additional building
basis and $2.0 million recorded as a reduction of Minority Intercsts — Partially Owned Properties. The
Company also acquired the majority of the remaining third party equity interests it did not previously own
in three properties, consisting of 211 units. The properties were previously accounted for under the
equity method of accounting and subsequent to each purchase were consolidated. The Company recorded
$5.6 million in investment in real estate and also:

Assumed $2.8 million in mortgage debt;

Reduced investments in unconsolidated entities by $1.2 million;
Assumed $1.5 million of other liabilities net of other assets acquired; and
Paid cash of $0.1 million (net of cash acquired).
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During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company disposed of the following to unaffiliated
parties (sales price in thousands): :

Properties Units  Sales Price

Rental Properties _ 335 39.608 $2,255,442
Condominium Units 5 1,069 215,972
Land Parcels (two) - - 1,569
340 40,677 $2,472 983

The Company recognized a net gain on sales of discontinued operations of approximately $1.0
billion (amount is net of $3.2 million of income taxes incurred on condominium sales — see additional
discussion in Note 2), a net gain on sales of land parcels of approximately $2.8 million and a net gain on
sales of unconsolidated entities of $0.4 million on the above sales.

On June 28, 2006, the Company announced that it agreed to sell its Lexford Housing Division for
a cash purchase price of $1.086 billion. The sale closed on October 5, 2006. The Lexford Housing
Division results are classified as discontinued operations, net of minority interests, in the consolidated
statements of operations for all periods presented. " 'The Company recorded a gain on sale of
approximately $418.7 million on the sale of the Léexford Housing Division in the fourth quarter of 2006.
In conjunction with the Lexford disposition, the Company paid offfextinguished $196.3 million of
mortgage notes payable secured by the properties and incurred approximately $9.2 million in prepayment
penalties upon extinguishment. The Company also recorded approximately $4.5 million in one-time
accrued retention benefits during the third quarter of 2006 related to the Lexford disposition. These costs
are included in discontinued operations, net of minority interests, in the consolidated statements of
operations. See Note 13 for additional information. '

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company disposed of the following to unaftiliated
parties (sales price in thousands):

Properties Units Sales Price

Rental Properties 50 12,848 $1,351,636
Condominium Units 6 2,241 593,305
Land Parcels (five) - - 108,280
56 15,089 $2,053,221

‘The Company recognized a net gain on sales of discontinued operations of approximately $697.7
million (amount is net of $8.8 million of income taxes incurred on condominium sales — see additional
discussion in Note 2), a net gain on sales of land parcels of approximately $30.2 million and a net gain on
the sales of unconsolidated entities of $1.3 million on the above sales.

5 Commitments to Acquire/Dispose of Real Estate
As of February 7, 2007, in addition to the properties that were subsequently acquired as discussed in

Note 21, the Company had entered into separate agrcements to acquire the foliowing (purchase price in
thousands): '

Properties/ ' ~ Purchase

Parcels : Price
Operating Propertics 5 § 410,850
Land Parcels . 4 88,552
Total 9 $ 499402




As of February 7, 2007, in addition to the properties that were subsequently disposed of as discussed
in Note 21, the Company had entered into separate agreements to dispose of the following (sales price in
thousands):

Properties/
Parcels Units Sales Price
Operating Properties 13 4,365 $ 319,130
Land Parcels 1 - 4,000
Total 14 4,365 $ 323,130

The closings of these pending transactions are subject to certain contingencies and conditions,
therefore, there can be no assurance that these transactions will be consummated or that the final terms will not
differ in material respects from those summarized in the preceding paragraphs.

6. Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

"The Company has co-invested in various properties with unrelated third parties which are either
consolidated or accounted for under the equity method of accounting (unconsolidated). The following table
summarizes the Company’s investments in partially owned entities as of December 31, 2006 (amounts in
thousands except for project and unit amounts):

Consolidated Unconsolidated

Develapment Projects

Held for

and/or Under Completed and Institutional

Development Stabilized Other Total Joint Ventures

Total projects 4)) 4 21 25 45

Total units (1) - 977 3,896 4,873 10,846
Debt — Secured (2):

EQR Ownership (3) s 159,154 $ 61,000 3 287,022 $ 507,176 $ 121,200

Minority Ownership - - 13,321 13,321 363,600

Total (at 100%) $ 159,154 $ 61,000 $ 300,343 $ 520,497 3 484,800

(1) Project and unit counts exclude all uncompleted development projects until those projects are completed.
(2) All debt is non-recourse to the Company with the exception of $28.3 million in mortgage bonds on one development project.
(3) Represents the Company's econemic ownership interest, ‘

7. Deposits - Restricted

The following table presents the deposits — restricted as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 (amounts in
thousands):

December December

31, 2006 31, 2005
Tax—deferred (1031) exchange proceeds 3 299,392 3 853
Earnest money on pending acquisitions 13,170 15,120
Resident security, utility and other 79,263 61,120
Totals $ 391,825 $ 77,093
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8. . . Mortgage Notes Payable . S e )

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had outstanding mortgage debt of approximately I$3.2
billion.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Coﬁpany:

e Repaid $493.0 million of mortgage loans,

e Assumed/consolidated $149.5 million of mortgage debt on certain properties in connection with
their acquisition and/or consolidation;

¢ Obtained $267.0 million of new mortgage loans on certain properties; and

e  Was released from $117.9 million of mortgage debt assumed by the purchaser on disposed
properties. ' ’

As of December 31, 2006, scheduled maturities for the Company’s outstanding mortgage
indebtedness were at various dates through September 1, 2045. At December 31, 2006, the interest rate range
on the Company’s mortgage debt was 3.32% to 12. 465% During the year ended December 31, 2006, the
weightéd average interest rate on the Company’s mortgage debt was 5.82%.

The historical cost, net of accumutated depreciation, of encumbered properties was $4.7 billion and
$4.8 billion at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Aggregate payments of principal on mortgage notes payable for each of the next five years and
thereafter are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Year - : "Total
2007 $ 307,941
- 2008 420,583
2009 540,679
2010 279,688
2011 529,601
Thereafter 1,099,731

Total $3,178,223

-As of December 31, 2005, the Company had outstanding mortgage indebtedness of approximéte]y
$3 .4 billion.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company:

e Repaid $470.4 million of mortgage loans; :

¢ Assumed/consolidated $446.3 million of mortgage debt on certain propert1es in connection with
their acquisition and/or consolidation; : :

e Obtained $280.1 million of new mortgage loans on certain propertles and

e Was released from $35.0 million of mortgage debt assumed by the purchaser on disposed
properties.

As of December 31, 2005, scheduled maturities for the Company’s outstanding mortgage
mdebtedness were at various dates through February 1, 2041, At December 31, 20035, the interest rate range
on the Company’s mortgage debt was 3.35% to 12.465%. During the year ended December 31, 2005, the
weighted average interest rate on the Company’s morigage debt was 5.63%. ‘
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9, Notes

The following tables summarize the Company’s unsecured note balances and certain interest rate and
maturity date information as of and for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively:

: Weighted
December 31, 2006 Net Principal Interest Rate Average Maturity
(Amounts are in thousands) Balance Ranges Interest Rate Date Ranges

Fixcd Rate Public/Private Notes (1) $ 4,158,043 3.85% - 7.625% 5.90% 2007 - 2026

Floating Rate Public Notes (1) 150,000 (N 6.13% 2009
Fixed Rate Tax-Exempt Bonds 111,390 4.75% - 5.20% 5.06% 2028 - 2029
Totals $ 4419433

(1} $150.0 million in fair value interest rate swaps converts 50% of the $300.0 million 4,750% notes duc June 15, 2009 to a
floating interest rate.

Weighted
December 31, 2005 Net Principal Interest Rate Average Maturity
(Amounts are in thousands) Balance Ranges Interest Rate Date Ranges
Fixed Rate Public/Private Notes 5 3,331,394 4.75% - 7.625% 6.13% 2006 - 2026
Fixcd Rate Tax-Exempt Bonds . 111,390 4.75% - 5.20% 5.06% 2028 - 2029

Totals 3 3,442.784

The Company’s unsecured public debt contains certain financial and operating covenants including,
among other things, maintenancc of certain financial ratios. The Company was in compliance with its
unsccured public debt covenants for both the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,

As of February 7, 2007, an unlimited amount of debt securitics remains available for issuance by the
Operating Partnership under a registration statement that became automatically effective upon filing with the
SEC in June 2006 (under SEC regulations enacted in 2005, the registration statement automatically expires on
June 29, 2009 and does not contain a maximum issuance amount).

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company:

» Issued $400.0 million of ten and one-half year 5.375% fixed-rate public notes, recciving net
proceeds of $395.5 million;

o [ssued $650.0 mitlion of twenty year 3.85% fixed rate public notes that are exchangeablc into
EQR Common’ Shares, receiving net proceeds of $637.0 million (sec further discussion
below);

« Repaid $60.0 mitlion of fixed-rate public notes at maturity; and

» Repaid $4.3 million of other unsecured notes.

On August 23, 2006, the Operating Partnership issued $650.0 million of exchangeable senior notes
that mature on August L5, 2026. The notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.85%. The noles are exchangeable
into EQR Common Shares, at the option of the holders, under specific circumstances or on or after August 15,
2025, at an initial exchange rate of 16,3934 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes (equivalent to an
initial exchange price of $61.00 per share). The initial exchange rate is subject 10 adjustment in certain
circumstances, including upon an increase in the Company’s dividend rate. Upon an ¢xchange of the notes,
the Operating Partnership will settle any amounts up to the principal amount of the notes in cash and the
remaining exchange value, if any, will be settled, at the Operating Partnership’s option, in cash, EQR
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Common Shares or a combination of both.

On or after August 18, 2011, the Operating Partnership may redeem the notes at a redemption price
equal to the principal amount of the notes plus any accrued and unpaid interest thercon. Upon notice of
redemption by the Operating Partnership, the holders may elect to excrcise their exchange rights. In addition,
on August 18, 2011, August 15, 2016 and August 15, 2021 or following the occurrence of certain change in
control transactions prior to August 18, 2011, note holders may require the Operating Partnership to
repurchase the notes for an amount equal to the principal amount of the notes plus any accrued and unpaid
interest thereon.

Note holders may also require an exchange of the notes should the closing sale price of Common
Shares exceed 130% of the exchange price for a certain period of time or should the trading price on the notes
be less than 98% of the product of the closing sales price of Common Shares multiplied by the applicable
exchange rate for a certain period of time.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company:

e Issued $500.0 million of ten and one-half year 5.125% fixed-rate public notes, receiving net
proceeds of $496.2 million;

e Had $300.0 million in fixed rate public notes remarketed as originally contemplated in a
remarketing agreement entered into in connection with the original issuance of the notes, with
the interest rate changing from 6.63% to 6.584% effective April 14, 2005 (notes still mature
on April 13, 2015);

e Repaid $190.0 million of fixed rate public notes at maturity; and

¢ Rcpaid $4.3 million of other unsecured notes.

Aggregate payments of principal on unsecured notes payable for each of the next five years and
thereafter are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Year Total
2007 $ 153,522
2008 129,251
2009 294,838
20010 (1 (365)
2011 (2) 942 994
Thereafter 2,899,193
Total $ 4419433

(1) Principal payments on unsecured notes includes amortization of any discounts or premiums related to the
notes. Premiums and discounts are amortized over the life of the unsecurcd notes,
(2) Includes the $650.0 million of 3.85% conventible unsecured debt with a final maturity of 2026.

10. Lines of Credit

The Operating Partnership has an unsecured revolving credit facility with potential borrowings of up
1o $1.0 billion maturing on May 29, 2008, with the ability to increase available borrowings by an additional
$500.0 million under certain circumstances. Advances under the credit facility bear interest at variable rates
based upon LIBOR at various interest periods plus a spread dependent upon the Operating Partnership’s credit
rating or based on bids received from the lending group. EQR bas guaranteed the Operating Partnership’s
credit facility up to the maximum amount and for its full term.

On August 30, 2005, the Operating Partnership entered into a one-year $600.0 million revolving

credit facility maturing on August 29, 2006. This credit facility was repaid in full and terminated on January
20, 2006.
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On July 6, 2006, the Operating Partnership entered into a one-year $500.0 million revolving credit
facility maturing on July 6, 2007. This facility was repaid in full and terminated on October 13, 2006.
Advances under this facility bore interest at variable rates based on LIBOR at various interest periods plus a
spread dependent upon the Operating Partnership’s credit rating. EQR guaranteed this credit facility up to the
maximum amount and for its full term.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, $460.0 million and $769.0 million, respectively, was outstanding
and $69.3 million and $50.2 million, respectively, was restricted (dedicated to support letters of credit and not
available for borrowing) on the credit facilities. During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the
weighted average interest rates were 5.40% and 3.80%, respectively.

11. Derivative Instruments

The following table summarizes the consolidated derivative instruments at December 31, 2006
(dollar amounts are in thousands):

Fair Value Forward Starting Development Cash

Hedges (1) Swaps (2} Flow Hedges (3)
Current Notional Balance § 370,000 $ 100,000 3 40,775
Lowest Possible Notional $ 373,000 $ 100,000 S 13,925
Highest Possible Notionat $ 370,000 $ 100,000 b 46,296
Lowest Interest Rate 3.245% 5.596% 4.530%
Highest Interest Rate J78T% 5.596% 4.530%
Earliest Maturity Date 2009 2017 2007
Latest Maturity Date 2009 2017 2007
Estimated Asset (Liability) Fair Value $  (13,130) 5 (3,122) 3 57

(1) Fair Value Hedges — Converts outstanding fixed rate debt to a floating interest rate.
(2) Forward Starting Swaps — Designed te partially fix the interest rate in advance of a planned future debt issuance.
(3) Development Cash Flow Hedges — Converts outstanding floating rate debt to a fixed interest rate.

On December 31, 2006, the net derivative instruments were reported at their fair valuc as other
assets of approximately $0.1 million and as other liabilities of approximately $16.3 million. As of
December 31, 2006, there were approximately $14.6 million in deferred losses, net, included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss. Based on the estimated fair values of the net derivative
instruments at December 31, 2006, the Company may recognize an estimated $2.4 million of accumulated
other comprehensive loss as additional interest expense during the year ending December 31, 2007.

In January 2006, the Company received approximately $10.7 million to terminate six forward
starting swaps in conjunction with the issuance of $400.0 million of ten and one-half year unsecured
notes. The $10.7 million has been deferred as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss and
will be recognized as a reduction of interest expense over the life of the unsecured notes.

12. Earnings Per Share

The following tables set forth the computation of net income per share — basic and net income per
share — diluted (amounts in thousands except per share amounts):
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' Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Numerator for net income per share — basie:
Income from continuing operations, net of minority interests % 100,532 % 147323 3 28,718
Preferred distributions (37,1 13) (49,642) (53,746)
Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares (3,965) (4.359) -
Income from continuing operations available to Common Shares,

net of minority interests ' 59,454 93,322 35,032

Discontinued operations, net of minority interests Ny 972,312 714.470 383,551
Numerator for net income per share — basic $ 1,031,766 $ 807,792 $ 418,583
Numerator for net income per share — diluted:
Income from continuing operations, net of minority interests $ 100,532 § 147323 3§ 88,778
Preferred distributions (37,113) (49.642) (53,746)
Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares (3,965) {4.359) -
Effect of dilutive securities:

Allocation to Minority Interests — Operating Partnership, net 4,201 6,796 2,624
Income from continuing operations available to Common Shares 63,655 100,118 37,656
Discontinued operations 1,040,685 766,188 412,155
Numerator for net income per share — diluted $ 1,104,340 $ 866,306 $ 449811
Denominator for net income per share — basic and diluted:

Denominator for net income per share — basic 290,019 285,760 279,744
Etfect of dilutive securities:

OP Units 20,433 20,819 - 20,939

Share options/restricted shares 5,127 4,206 3,188
Denominator for net income per share — diluted 315,579 310,785 303,871
Net income per share — basic $ 3.56 % 283 8§ 1.50
Net income per share — diluted 3 350 3 279§ 1.48
Net income per share — basic:

Income from continuing operations available to Common Sharcs,
net of minority interests S 0.205 5 0.327 § <0.125
Discontinued operations, net of minority interests 3.353 2.500 1.371
Net income per share — basic $ 3.558 3 2827 % 1.496
Net income per share — diluted:
Income from continuing operations available to Common $ 0202 § 0322 § 0.124
Shares
Discontinued operations 3.298 2.466 1.356
Net income per share - diluted _ ) 3500 S 2788 S 1.480

Convertible preferred sharesfunits that could be converted into 1. 163.908, 1,772,048 and 3,215,472 weighted average
Common Shares for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, were outstanding but were not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effects would be anti-dilutive. In addition, the
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effect of the Common Shares that could ultimately be issued upon the conversion/exchange of the Operating
Parinership’s $650.0 million exchangeable senior notes were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per
share because the effects wonld be anri-dilutive.

For additional disclosures regarding the emplovee share options and restricted shares, see Notes 2 and 14,
13. Discontinued Operations

The Company has presented separately as discontinued operations in all periods the results of
operations for all consolidated assets disposed of on or after January 1, 2002 (the date of adoption of
SFAS No. 144), all operations related to condominium conversion properties effective upon their
respective transfer into a TRS and all properties held for sale.

The components of discontinued operations are outlined below and include the results of operations
for the respective periods that the Company owned such assets during each of the years ended December 31 ,
2006, 20035, and 2004 (amounts in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

REVENUES
Rental income "% 173907 $ 365,492 $ 458,431
Fee and asset management - 908 1,053

Total revenues 173,907 366,400 459,484
EXPENSES (1)
Property and maintenance , 65,871 120,104 148,452
Real estate taxes and Insurance 20,028 46,069 53,852
Property management 8,695 10,409 9,706
Depreciation 29,898 89,364 1£5,910
General and administrative 579 1,142 974
Impairment 351 - -

Total expenses 125,422 267,088 328,894
Discontinued operating income 48,485 99,312 130,590
Interest and other incorne 1.507 1,411 376
Interest (2):

Expense incurred, net (24,918) (31,527) (35,792)

Amortization of deferred financing costs (832) (663) (1,462)
Discontinued operations 24242 68,533 93,712
Minority Interests — Operating Partnership (1,593) (4.6206) {6,504)
Discontinued operations, net of minority interests 22,649 63,907 87,208
Net gain on sales of discontinued operations i 1,016,443 697,655 318,443
Minority Interests — Operating Partnership {66,780) {47,092) {22,100)
Gain on sales of discontinued operations, net of

minority interests 949,663 650,563 296,343

Discontinued operations, net of minority interests $ 972312 § 714470 $ 383,551

Note: Discontinued operations includes the Lexford Housing Division.

(1) Includes expenses paid in the current period for properties sold or held for sale in prior periods related 1o
the Company s period of ownership.
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(2) Includes onlv interest expense specific 1o secured mortgage notes payable for properties sold and/or held
for sale. :

For the properties sold during 2006 (ekcluding condominium conversion properties), the
investment in real estate, net of accumulated depreciation, and the mortgage notes payable balances at
December 31, 2005 were $1.3 billion and $348.4 million, respectively.

The net real cstate basis of the Company’s condominium conversion properties owned by the
‘IRS and included in discontinued operations (excludes the Company’s five halted conversions as they are
now held for use), which were included in investment in real estate, net in the consolidated balance
sheets, was $95.4 million and $121.3 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

14. Share Incentive Plans

On May 15, 2002, the sharcholders of EQR approved the Company’s 2002 Share Incentive Plan.
The maximum aggregate number of awards that may be granted under this plan may not excced 7.5% of the
Company's outstanding Common Shares calculated on a "fully dituted" basis and determined annually on the
first day of each calendar year. As of January 1, 2007, this amount equaled 23,574,211, of which 13,521,150
s available for future issuance. No awards may be granted under the 2002 Share Incentive Plan after
February 20, 2012.

Pursuant to the 2002 Share Incentive Plan and the Fifth Amended and Restated 1993 Share Option
and Share Award Plan (collectively the "Share Incentive Plans"), officers, trustces and key employees of the
Company may be granted share options to acquirc Common Shares ("Options”) including non-qualified share
options ("NQSOs"), incentive share options ("ISOs") and share appreciation rights ("SARs"), or may be
granted restricted or non-restricted shares, subject to conditions and restrictions as described in the Share
Incentive Plans. Finally, certain executive officers of the Company participate in the Company’s performance
based restricted share plan. Options, SARs, restricted shares and performance shares are sometimes
collectively referred to herein as "Awards”.

The Options are generally granted at the fair market value of the Company’s Common Shares at the
date of grant, vest in three equal installments over a three year period, are exercisable upon vesting and expire
ten years from the date of grant. The exercise price for all Options under the Share Incentive Plans is equal to
the fair market value of the underlying Common Shares at the time the Option is granted. The Fifth Amended
and Restated 1993 Share Option and Share Award Plan will terminate at such time as all outstanding Awards
have expired or have becn exercised/vested. The Board of Trustees may at any time amend or terminate the
Share Incentive Plans, but termination will not affect Awards previously granted. Any Options which had
vested prior to such a termination would remain exercisable by the holder.

As to the restricted shares that have been awarded through December 3!, 2006, these shares
generally vest three years from the award date. During the three-year period of restriction, the
Company’s unvested restricted shareholders receive quarterly dividend payments on their shares at the
same rate and on the same date as any other Common Share holder. In addition, the Company’s unvested
restricted shareholders have the same voting rights as any other Common Share holder. As a result,
dividends paid on unvested restricted shares are included as a component of retained earnings (deficit)
and have not been considered in reducing net income available to Common Shares in a manner similar to
the Company’s preferred share dividends for the earnings per share calculation. If employment is
terminated prior to the lapsing of the restriction, the shares are generally canceled.

In addition, each year prior to 2007, selccted execulive officers of the Company reccived

performance-based awards. Effective January 1, 2007, the Company has elected to discontinue the award
of new performance-based award grants. The executive officers have the opportunity to earn in Common
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Shares an amount as little as 0% to as much as 225% of the target number of performance-based awards.
The owners of performance-based awards have no right to vote, receive dividends or transfer the awards
until Common Shares are issued in exchange for the awards. The number of Common Shares the
executive officer actually receives on the third anniversary of the grant date will depend on the excess, if
any, by which the Company’s Average Annual Return (i.e., the average of the Common Share dividends
declared during each year as a percentage of the Common Share price as of the first business day of the
first performance year and the average percentage increase in funds from operations (“FFO”) for each
calendar year on a per share basis over the prior year) for the three performance years exceeds the average
of the 10-year Treasury Note interest rate as of the first business day in January of cach performance year
(the “T-Note Rate™). ’

If the Company’s Average Less Greater
Annual Return exceeds than than
the T-Note Rate by: ' 0.99% 1-199% 2% 3% 4% 5% 6% 7%

Then the executive officer will receive
Common Shares equal to the
target number of awards times the
following %: 0% 50% 100% 115% 135% 165% 190%  225%

If the Company’s Average Annual Return exceeds the T-Note Rate by an amount which falls
between any of the percentages in excess of the 2% threshold, the performance-based award will be
determined by extrapolation between the two percentages. Fifty percent of the Common Shares to which
an executive officer may be entitled under the performance share grants will vest, subject to the
executive’s continued employment with the Company, on the third anniversary of the award (which will
be the date the Common Shares are issued); twenty-five percent will vest on the fourth .anniversary and
the remaining twenty-five percent will vest on the fifth anniversary. The Common Shares will also fully
vest upon the executive’s death, retirement at or after age 62, disability or upon a change in control of the
Company.

The following tables summarize compensation information regarding the performance shares,

restricted shares, share options and ESPP for the three years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(amounts in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31, 2006

Compensation

Compensation Compensation Dividends

Expense Capitalized Equity Incurred
Performance shares $ 1,795 $ - $ 1,795 $ -
Restricted shares 13,923 1,021 14,944 2,437
Share options 4,868 330 5,198 -
ESPP discount 1,494 34 1,578 -
Total - $ 22,080 $ - 1435 $ 23,515 $ 2437

Year Ended December 31, 2005

Year Ended December 31, 2004

Compensation Dividends Compensation Dividends

Expense/Equity Incurred Expense/Equity Incurred
Performance shares $ 7,697 h) - $ 312 $ -
Restricted shares 20,055 2,743 12,242 2.508
Share options 6,562 - 2,982 -
ESPP discount 1,591 - 1,290 -
Total $ 35,905 3 16,826 $ 2,508

Compensation expense is recognized for all Awards over the vesting period. The total
compensation expense related to Awards not yet vested at December 31, 2006 is $23.7 million, which is

$ 2,743

expected to be recognized over a weighted average term of 1.6 years.

See Note 2 for additional information regarding the Company’s share-based compensation.

The table below summarizes the Award activity of the Share Incentive Plans and options assumed in
connection with mergers (the “Merger Options™) for the three years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and

2004:
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Balance at December 31, 2003
Awards granted (2002 plan)
Awards exercised/vested (1993 plan)
Awards exercised/vested (2002 plan)
Merger Options exercised
Awards canceled (1993 plan)
Awards canceled (2002 plan)
Balance at December 31, 2004
Awards granted (2002 plan)
Awards exercised/vested (1993 plan)
Awards exercised/vested (2002 plan)
Merger Options exercised
Awards canceled (1993 plan)
Awards canceled (2002 plan) -
Balance at December 31, 2005
Awards granted (2002 plan)
Awards exercised/vested (1993 plan) (1)
Awards exercised/vested (2002 plan) (1)
Merger Options exercised (1)
Awards canceled (1993 plan)
Awards canceled (2002 plan)
Balance at December 31, 2006

Weighted

Weighted Average Average Fair
Common Shares Exercise Price Restricted Value per
Subject to Options Per Option Shares Restricted Share
12,085,598 $24.27 1,362,733 $22.75
2,254,570 $29.33 572,688 $29.28
(2,920,057) $23.75 (457,127) $20.05
(423,866) $23.55 (7,973) $28.05
(6,836) $20.14 - -
(90,436) $23.44 (33,374) $25.25
(79,751) $28.02 (23,692) $28.19
10,819,222 $25.48 1,413,255 $26.06
2,235,268 $31.91 620,192 $31.89
© - (1,630,321) $23.44 (373,310} $24.68
(611,943) $26.31 (190,938) $29.36
(6,480) $18.10 - -
(27,677 $24.53 (12,363) $23.64
(205,326) $30.32 (87,008) $29.55
10,572,743 $27.02 1,369,828 $28.42
1,671,122 $42.32 684,998 $34.76
(1,754,288) $25.24 (151,104) $23.55
(890,326) $29.24 (519,664) $21.07
(3,162) $19.49 - -
(8,866) $22.46 (275) $23.55
(171,436) $35.28 (81,026) $34.74
9,415,787 $29.71 1,302,757 $34.85

, (1) The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $58.0 million.

The following table summarizes information regarding options outstanding at December 31, 2006:
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Options Outstanding (1)

Options Exercisable (2)
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Contractual Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Options Life in Years Price Options Price
$9.00 to $18.13 92 0.01 $9.55 92 $9.55
$18.14 to $22.67 837,986 2.52 $20.56 837,986 $20.50
$22.68 to $27.20 2,376,911 3.78 $24.63 2,376,911 $24.63
$27.21 t0 $31.73 2,784,929 5.98 $28.30 2,264,236 $28.06
$31.74 to $36.26 1,817,740 8.05 331.77 773,233 $31.77
$36.27 to $40.80 329,167 8.96 $39.74 302,967 $39.90
$40.81 to $45.33 1,268,962 9.03 $42.81 76,624 $42.80

$9.00 to $45.33 9,415,787 6.03 $29.71 6,632,049 $27.03

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding as of December 31, 2006 is $198.1 million.
(2) The aggregate intrinsic value and weighted average remaining contractual life in years of options
exercisable as of December 31, 2006 is $156.8 million and 5.1 years, respectively.

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, 6,864,922 Options (with a weighted average exercise price of
$25.60) and 6,851,442 Options (with a weighted average exercise price of $24.47) were exercisable,
respectively.

15. Employee Plans

The Company established an Employee Share Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) to provide employees and
trustees the ability to annually acquire up to $100,000 of Common Shares of the Company. In 2003, the
Company’s sharcholders approved an increase in the aggregate number of Common Shares available under
the ESPP to 7,000,000 (from 2,000,000). The Company has 4,270,759 Common Shares available for
purchase under the ESPP at December 31, 2006. The Common Shares may be purchased quarterly at a price
equal to 85% of the lesser of: (a) the closing price for a share on the last day of such quarter; and (b) the
greater of: (i) the closing price for a share on the first day of such quarter, and (ii) the average closing price for
a share for all the business days in the quarter. The following table summarizes information regarding the
Common Shares issued under the ESPP: '

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts)

Shares issued 213,427 286,751 275,616
Issuance price ranges $35.43 - $43.30 $27.89 - 832.27 $23.35-$27.39
Issuance proceeds $7,972 $8,285 $6,853

The Company established a defined contribution plan (the "401(k) Plan"} to provide retirement
benefits for employees that meet minimum employment criteria. The Company matches dollar for dollar up
to the first 3% of eligible compensation that a participant contributes to the 401(k) Plan (2% for 2004).
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Participants are vested in the Company’s contributions over five ycars. The Company made contributions in
the amount of $3.5 million and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively,
and expects to make contributions in the amount of approximately $3.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2006. '

The Company may also elect to make an annual discretionary profit-sharing contribution as a
percentage of cach individual employee’s eligible compensation under the 401(k) Plan. The Company
cxpects to make contributions in the amount of approximately $3.4 million for the year ended December 3 1,
2006. The Company made contributions of approximately $2.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2005 and did not make a contribution for the year ended December 31, 2004.

The Company cstablished a supplemental executive retirement plan (the “SERP™) to provide certain
officers and trustees an opportunity to defer a portion of their eligible compensation in order to save for
rctirement. The SERP s restricted to investments in Company Common Shares, certain marketable securities
that have been specifically approved, and cash equivalents. The deferred compensation liability represented in
the SERP and the securities issued to fund such deferred compensation liability are consolidated by the
Company and carricd on the Company’s balance sheet, and the Company’s Common Shares held in the SERP
arc accounted for as a reduction to paid in capital.

16. Distribution Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan

On November 3, 1997, the Company filed with the SEC a Form S-3 Registration Statement to
register 14,000,000 Common Shares pursuant to a Distribution Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan (the
“DRIP Plan”). The registration statement was declared effective on November 25, 1997. The Company has
11,571,277 Comimon Shares available for issuance under the DRIP Plan at December 3 1, 2006.

The DRIP Plan providcs holders of record and beneficial owners of Common Shares and Preferred
Shares with a simple and convenient method of investing cash distributions in additional Common Shares
{which is referred to hercin as the “Dividend Reinvestment — DRIP Plan”). Common Shares may also be
purchased on a monthly basis with optional cash payments made by participants in the DRIP Plan and
interested new investors, not currently shareholders of the Company, at the market price of the Common
Shares less a discount ranging between 0% and 5%, as determined in accordance with the DRIP Plan (which
is referred to herein as the “Share Purchase — DRIP Plan™). Common Shares purchased under the DRIP Plan
may, at the option of the Company, be directly issued by the Company or purchased by the Company’s
transfer agent in the open market using participants’ funds.

17. Transactions with Related Parties

The Company provided asset and property management services to certain related entities for
propertics not owned by the Company. Fees received for providing such services were approximately $0.3
million, $0.2 miilion and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company leases its corporate headquarters from an entity controlled by EQR's Chairman of the
Board of Trustees. The leasc terminates on July 31, 2011. Amounts incurred for such office space for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respéctivcly, were approximately $2.8 million, $2.1 million
and $1.9 million. The Company believes these amounts equal market rates for such space,

The Company had the following additional non-continuing related party transactions:

» The Company rcimbursed its Chief Operatipg Officer for the actual operating costs (excluding
acquisition costs) of operating his personat aircraft for himself and other employees on Company
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business in 2005 and 2004. Amounts incurred were approximately $0.4 million and $0.3 million for
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

¢ The Company leased space in an office building in Augusta, Georgia indirectly owned by one of
EQR’s former trustees since May 2003 and directly owned by an entity affiliated with the same EQR
trustee from 1998 to 2003 (individual was a trustee through May 2004). Approximately $0.2 million
was incurred for such office space for the year ended December 31, 2004

18. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company, as an owrner of real estate, is stubject to various Federal, state and local environmental
laws. Compliance by the Company with existing laws has not had a material adverse effect on the Company.
However, the Company cannot predict the impact of new or changed laws or regulations on its current
properties or on properties that it may acquire in the future.

The Company is party to a housing discrimination lawsuit brought by a non-profit civil rights
organization in April 2006 in the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland. The suit alleges that the
Company designed and built approximately 300 of its propertics in violation of the accessibility requirements
of the Fair Housing Act and Americans With Disabilities Act. The suit seeks actual and punitive damages,
injunctive relief (including modification of non-compliant properties), costs and attorneys’ fees. The
Company believes it has a number of viable defenses; including that a majority of the named properties were
completed before the operative dates of the statutes in question and/or were not designed or built by the
Company. Accordingly, the Company is defending the suit vigorously. Due to the pendency of the
Company’s defenses and the uncertainty of many other critical factual and legal issues, it is not possible to
determine or predict the outcome of the suit and as a result, no amounts have been accrued at December 31,
2006. While no assurances can be given, the Company does not believe that the suit, if adversely determined,
would have a matenal adverse effect on the Company.

The Company does not believe there is any other litigation pending or threatened against it that,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably may be expected to have a material adverse effect on the
Company.

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company established a reserve and
recorded a corresponding expense, net of insurance receivables, for estimated uninsured property damage at
certain of its properties caused by various hurricanes in cach respective year. During the year ended
Dccember 31, 2006, the Company received $12.1 million in insurance proceeds and recorded an additional
$6.2 million of receivables in anticipation of proceeds expected. As of December 31, 2006, a receivable of
$5.1 million and a liability of $3.2 million are included in other assets and rents received in advance and other
liabilities, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has eleven projects totaling 3,448 units in various stages of
development with estimated completion dates ranging through June 30, 2009. The primary developrment
agreements currently in place have the following key terms:

e The first development partner has the right, at any time following completion of a project, to stipulate
a value for such project and offer to sell its interest in the project to the Company based on such
value. If the Company chooses not to purchase the interest, the Company must agree to a sale of the
project to an unrelated third party at such value. The Company’s partner must exercise this right as to
all projects subject to the agreement within five years aftér the receipt of the final certificate of
occupancy on the last developed property.

e  The sccond development partmer has the right, at any time following completion of a project, t0
require the Company to purchase the partner’s interest in that project at a mutually agreeable price. If

56




the Company and the partner are unable to agree on a price, both parties will obtain appraisals. If the
appraised values vary by more than 10%, both the Company and its partner will agree on a third
appraiser to determine which original appraisal is closest to its determination of value. The Company
may elect at that time not to purchase the property and instead, authorize its partner to sell the project
at or above the agreed-upon value to an unrelated third party. Five years following the receipt of the
final certificate of occupancy on the last developed property, the Company must purchase, at the
agreed-upon price, any projects retnaining unsold. o

® The third development partner has the exclusive right for six months following stabilization, as
defined, to market a subject project for sale. Thereafter, either the Company or its development
partner may market a subject project for sale. If the Company’s development partner proposes
the sale, the Company may elect to purchase the project at the price proposed by its partner or
defer the sale until two independent appraisers appraise the project. If the two appraised values
vary by more than 5%, a third appraiser will be chosen to determine the fair market value of the
property. Once a value has been determined, the Company may elect to purchase the property or
authorize its development partner to sell the project at the agreed-upon value.

In addition, the Company has various deal-specific development agreements with partners, the overall
terms of which are similar in nature to those described above.

The Company’s guaranty of a credit enhancement agreement with respect to certain tax-exempt
bonds issued to finance certain public improvements at a multifamily development project was terminated
effective May 2, 2005 as the tax-exempt bonds were redeemed in full and the associated letter of credit was
cancelled.

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, total operating lease payments incurred
for office space, including a portion of real estate taxes, insurance, repairs and utilities, aggregated $6.7
million, $6.1 million and $5.8 million, respectively.

The Company has entered into a retirement benefits agreement with its Chairman of the Board of
Trustees and deferred compensation agreements with its chief operating officer and two former chief
executive officers. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company recognized
compensation expense of $1.1 miflion, $2.2 million and $39,000, respectively, related to these agreements.

The following table summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations for minimum rent payments
under operating leases and deferred compensation for the next five years and thereafter as of December 3 1,
2006:

Payments Due by Year (in thousands)

2007 2008 - 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter Total

Operating Leases: :
Minimum Rent Payments (a) $ 5443 § 5302 § 4709 $ 4119 $ 2416 % 2963 % 24,952
Other Long-Term Liabilities:

Deferred Compensation (b) 813 813 1,450 1,450 2,049 14,736 21,311

(d) Minimum basic rent due for various office space the Company leases and fixed base rent due on a ground lease for one property.
{e} Estimated payments to the Company’s Chairman, two former CEQ’s and its chief operating officer based on planned retirement dates.

19.  Asset Impairment

The Company recorded approximately $30.0 million of asset impairment charges related to its
write-down of the entire carrying value of the goodwill on its corporate housing business during the year
ended December 31, 2006. Following the guidance in SFAS No. 142, this charge was the result of the
continued poor operating performance of the corporate housing business and management’s expectations
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for future performance. This charge is reflected on the consolidated statements of operations as
impairment. :

The Company also took an impairment charge of $2.0 miltion related to the write-off of various
deferred sales costs following the decision to halt the condominium conversion and sale process at five assets.
The remaining $2.0 million of impairment losses ini2006 along with the $0.6 million and $1.5 million of
losses in 2005 and 2004, respectively, represent the write-off of various pursuit and out-of-pocket costs for
terminated acquisition, disposition and development transactions.

20. Reportable Segments
.0
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial
information is available that is evaluated regularly by senior management. Senior management decides
how resources are allocated and assesses performance on a monthly basis.

The Company’s primary business is owning, managing, and operating multifamily residential
properties, which includes the generation of rental and other related income through the leasing of
apartment units to residents. Senior management evaluates the performance of each of our apartment
communities individually and geographically, andr both on a same store and non-same store basis;
however, each of our apartment communitics generally has similar economiic characteristics, residents,
products and services. The Company’s operating .segments have been aggregated by geography in a
manner identical to that which'is provided to its chi'ef“ operating decision maker. -

The Company’s fee and asset management, development (including FIN No. 46 partially owned
properties), condominium conversion and corporate housing (Equity Corporate Housing or “ECH”)
activities are immaterial and do not individually meet the threshold requirements of a reportable segment
as provided for in SFAS No. 131 and as such, have been aggregated in the tables presented below.

All revenues are from external customers and there is no customer who contributed 10% or more
of the Company’s total revenues during the three years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, or 2004.
. s
The primary financial measure for the Company’s rental real estate properties is net operating
income (“NOI”), which represents rental income less: 1) property and maintenance expense; 2) real
estate taxes and insurance expense; and 3) property management expense (all as reflected in the
accompanying statements of operations). The Company believes that NOI is helpful to investors as a
supplemental measure of the operating performance of a real estate company because it is a direct
measure of the actual operating results of the Company’s apartment communities. Current year NOI is
compared to prior year NOI and current year budgeted NOI as a measure of financial performance. The
following table presents NOI for each segment from our rental real estate specific to continuing
operations as well as total assets for the years ended December 31, 2006, and 2005, respectively (amounts
in thousands): Ry
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Rental income:

Same store (1)

Non-same store/other (2) (3)
Total rental income

Operating expenses:

Same store (1)

Non-same store/other (2) (3)
Total operating expenses

NOI:

Same store (1)

Non-same store/other (2) (3)
Total NOI

\  Total assets

Year Ended December 31, 2006

Northeast South West Other (3) Total

$ 424202 $ 611,636 $ 576,601 $ - $ 1,612,529
126,535 79,383 76.524 86,364 368,806
550,827 691,019 653,125 86,364 1,981,335
164,050 259,789 204,371 - 628,210
49,781 32,528 28,869 83,765 194,943
213,831 292,317 233,240 83,765 823,153
260,242 351,847 372,230 ; 984,319
76,754 46,855 47,655 2,599 173,863

$ 336,996 $ 398,702 $ 419,885 $ 2599 $ 1,158.182

$ 4,465,461 $ 4,316,252 $ 4,507,019 $ 1,773,487 $ 15,062,219

* (1) Same store includes properties owned for all of both 2006 and 2005 which represented 128,133 units.
(2) Non-same store includes properties acquired after January 1, 2005.
| (3) Other includes ECH, development, condominium conversion overhead of $5.9 million and other corporate operations. Also

reflects $15.8 miltion elimination of rental income recorded in Northeast, South and West operating segments related to ECH.

| Rental income:
Same store (1}
Non-same store/other (2) (3)

Total rental income

Operating expenses:

Same store (1)

Non-same store/other (2) (3)
Total operating expenses

NOT:

Same store (1)

Non-same store/other (2) (3)
Total NOIT

Total assets

Year Ended December 31, 2005

Northeast South West Other (3) Total

$ 405,983 $ 571,485 $ 546,390 $ - $ 1,523,858
32,478 21,006 22,677 72,399 148,560
438,461 592,491 569,067 72,399 1,672,418
157,065 250,989 196,264 - 604,318
13,737 7,784 8,868 95,320 125,709
170,802 258,773 205,132 95,320 730,027
248,918 320,496 350,126 - 919,540
18,741 13,222 13,809 (22,921) 22,851

$ 267,659 $ 333,718 $ 363,935 $ (22,921) 3 942,391

$ 4,056,535 $ 3,829.466 $ 3,977,377 $ 2,245,373 $ 14,108,751

(1) Same store includes properties owned for all of both 2006 and 2005 which represented 128,133 units.
(2) Non-same store includes properties acquired after January 1, 2005.
(3) Other includes ECH, development, condominium conversion overhead of $3.1 million and other corporate operations. Also
reflects $13.4 million elimination of rental income recorded in Northeast, South and West operating segments related to ECH
and $11.1 million of hurricane insurance losses.

Note: Markets included in the above geographic segments are as follows:
(a) Northeast — New England (excl Boston), Boston, New York Metro, DC Northern Virginia,
Suburban Maryland, Chicago, Milwaukee and Minneapolis/St. Paul.
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South — Charlotte, Raleigh/Durham, Atlanta, Jacksonville, Orlando, Tampa/Ft. Myers, South
Florida, Nashville, Tulsa, Austin, Houston, Dallas/Ft. Worth, Albuquerque and Phoenix.

West — Seattle/Tacoma, Portland, Central Valley, San Francisco Bay Area, Inland Empire, Los
Angeles, Orange County, San Diego and Denver.

The following table presents a reconciliation of NOI from our rental real estate specific to

continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively:

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(Amounts in thousands)

Rental income $ 1,981,335 $ 1,672,418 $ 1,483,184

Property and maintenance ¢xpense (527,154) (451,245) (392,295)

Real estate taxes and insurance expense (199,582) (191,679 (175,605)

Property management eXpense (96,417) (87,103) {76,898)

Total operating expenses . {823,153) {730,027) (644,798)

Net operating income $ 1,138,182 £ 942,391 $ 838,386
21. Subsequent Events/Other

Subsequent to December 31, 2006 and through February 7, 2007, the Company:

Acquired $536.5 million of apartment properties consisting of nine properties and 2,903 units;
Sold one residential property consisting of 280 units for $14.4 million (excluding condominium
units); and

Repaid $115.3 million of mortgage loans.

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company received proceeds from

technology and other investments of $4.0 million and $82.1 million, respectively, from the following:

$25.0 million in full redemption of 1,000,000 shares of Wellsford 8.25% Convertible Trust
Preferred Securities during 2005, :

$3.7 million and $57.1 million for its ownership interest’ in Rent.com in connection with the
acquisition of Rent.com by eBay, Inc in 2006 and 2005, respectively. Both amounts were
recorded as interest and other income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations;
and

$0.3 million as a partial distribution for its ownership interest in Constellation Real Technologies,
LLC in 2006. The amount was recorded as interest and other income.

During 2006, the Company recognized $14.7 million of forfeited deposits for various terminated

transactions, included in interest and other income.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company established a reserve of $6.2 million related to

potential liabilities associated with certain asset sales: While no assurances can be given, the Company
does not believe that the potential issue, if adversely determined or settled, will have a material adverse
effect on the Company. ' '

On March 28, 2003, the Company and Bruce W. Duncan, the Company’s former Chief Exccutive

Officer (“CEO™), entered into an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (as further amended
effective June 30, 2005, the “Amendment”) to reflect changes required in view of Mr. Duncan’s
retirement as CEO and trustee effective December 31,.2005. The Amendment also amended Mr.
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Duncan’s Deferred Compensation Agreement entered into in January 2003. The Company recorded
approximately $11.2 million of additional general and administrative expense during the year ended
December 31, 2005, primarily related to accelerated vesting of share options and restricted/performance
shares.

Effective February 28, 2005, the Company and Edward Geraghty, the President of the
Company’s Eastern Division, entered into a Separation Agreement and General Release reflecting Mr.
Geraghty’s resignation effective February 28, 2005. The Company recorded approximately $3.3 million
of severance as additional general and administrative expense during the quarter ended March 31, 2005,

22, Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following unaudited quarterly data has been prepared on the basis of a December 31 year-end. All
amounts have also been restated in accordance with the discontinued operations provisions of SFAS No 144
and reflect dispositions and/or properties held for sale through December 31, 2006, Amounts are in
thousands, except for per share amounts.

Fourth Third Second First

Quarter | Quarter Quarter Quarter
2006 12/31 9/30 6/30 3/31

Total revenues (1) $ 517,880 § 511464 $§ 490,614 $ 470,478
Operating income (1) 104,731 139,726 140,463 128,223
Income from continuing operations, net of minority

interests (1) 11,961 35,440 34,016 19,115
Discontinued operations, net of minority interests (1) 453,100 34,371 126,141 358,700
Net income * 465,061 69,811 160,157 377,815
Net income available to Common Shares 457,606 56,356 150,084 367,720
Earnings per share — basic:

Net income available to Common Shares $ 1.57 % 0.19 § 0.52 % 1.27

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 291,669 290,036 289,460 288,880
Earnings per share — diluted:

Net income available to Common Shares $ 154 % 0.19 % 051 % 1.25

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 317,076 315,886 314,698 314,049

1 The amounts presented for the first three quarters of 2006 are not cqual to the same amounts previously reported in the respective
p y rep iy
"Form 10-Q’s filed with the SEC for each period as a result of changes in discontinued aperations due to additional property sales

which cccurred throughout 2006, Below is a reconciliation to the amounts previously reported in the respective Form 10-Q’s:
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Third Second First
Quarter - Quarter Quarter
2006 9/30 6/30 3/31
Total revenues previously reported in Form 10-Q $ 513,865 § 491,939 520,979
Total revenues subsequently reclassified to discontinued operations (2,401 (1,325) (50,501)
Total revenues disclosed in Form 10-K - As 511464 - $§ 490,614 470,478
Operating income previously reported in Form 10-Q $ 140,784 § 140,321 142,019
Operating income subsequently reclassified to discontinued ‘ :
gperations (1,058) 142 {13,796)
Operating income disclosed in Form 10-K $ 139,726 $ 140463 128,223
Income from continuing operations, net of minority interests
previously reported in Form 10-Q $ 36,426 ©§ 33,883 26,869
Income from continuing operations, net of minority interests
subsequently reclassified to discontinued operations (986) 133 (7,754)
Income from continuing operations, net of minority interests disclosed
in Form 10-K 5 35440 s 34,016 19,115
Discontinued operations, net of minority interests previously reported :
in Form 10-Q 3 33,385 5 126,274 350,946
Discontinued operations, net of minority interests from propertles sold :
subsequent to the respective reporting period ‘ 986 (133) 7,754
Discontinued operations, net of minority interests disclosed in Form
10-K $ 34,371 % 126,141 358,700
Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2005 12/31 9/30 6/30 3/31
Total revenues (2) $ 449541 $ 426,771 $ 411278 § 395,068
Operating income (2) 106,461 108,196 115,151 103,656
Income from continuing operations, net of minority
interests (2) 30,554 14,343 23,678 78,748
Discontinued operations, net of minority interests (2) 195,332 253,181 117,666 148,291
Net income * . 225,886 267,524 141,344 227,039
Net income available to Common Shares 215,205 250,247 128,326 214,014
Earnings per share — basic:
Net income available to Common Shares $ 075 $ 0.87 % 045 % 0.75
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 287,033 286,182 285,283 284,511
Earnings per share — diluted:
Net income available to Common Shares $ 0.74 § 087 $ 044 5 0.74
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 312,048 286,182 309,979 308,576

(2)  The amounts presented for the four quarters of 2005 are not equal to the same amounts previously reported in the Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on August 15, 2006 for each period as a result of changes in discontinued operations due to additional property sales

which oceurred throughout 2006. Below is a reconciliation to the amounts previously reported:
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was equal to the net income amounts disclosed above.
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Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter Quarter " Quarter
2005 12/31 9/30 6/30 3/31
tal revenues previously reported in August 2006 Form 8-K $ 452,858 § 430,758 § 415230 $ 399,054
btal revenues subsequently reclassified to discontinued operations (3,317) (3,987) (3,952) (3,986)
tal revenues disclosed in Form 10-K . $ 449541 § 426,771 % 411,278 § 395068
erating income previously reported in August 2006 Form 8-K $ 107,051 $ 109077 § 116,263 § 104,818
erating income subsequently reclassified to discontinued
operations {590) (881) (1,112) (1,162)
erating income disclosed in Form 10-K $ 106,461 § 108,196 $ 115151 § 103,656
ome from continuing operations, net of minority interests
previously reported in August 2006 Form 8-K $ 30,777 % 14833 § 24,379 § 79,502
ome from continuing operations, net of minority interests ‘
ubsequently reclassified to discontinued operations (223) (490) (701) (754)
ome from continuing operations, net of minority interests
isclosed in Form 10-K : § 30554 % 14343 § 23678 § 78,748
pcontinued operations, net of minority interests previously reported
' in August 2006 Form §-K $ 195109 $ 252,691 § 116,965 $ 147,537
continued operations, net of minority interests from properties - . '
sold subsequent to the respective reporting period 223 490 701 754
continued operations, net of minority interests disclosed in Form '
10-K $ 195332 § 253,181 § 117,666 § 148,291

* The Company did not have any extraordinary items or cumulative effect of change in accounting principle during the years ended December
31, 2006 and 2005. Therefore, income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle is not shown as it




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Trustees and Sharcholders
Equity Residential

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Equity Residential (the "Company") as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders'
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits. '

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also inclndes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion. '

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of Equity Residential at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006,
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of Equity Residential’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 21,
2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

St ¥ LLP

Chicago, [llinois
February 21, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders
Equity Residential

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting, that Equity Residential (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issucd by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO Criteria™).  The Company's
managemcnt is responsible for maintaining ¢ffective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit,

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective intemal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a pt%cess designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (3} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material efiect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Equity Residential maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO Criteria. Also, in our
opinion, Equity Residential maintained, in all material respects, effective intemal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on the COSO Criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Equity Residential as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, changes in sharcholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2006 and our report dated February 21, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Srmet ¥ LLP

Chicago, 1llinois
February 21, 2007
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Transfer Agent
To keep securities information up-to-date and to

ensure that holders of Equity Residential securities

recejve financial information as socn as possible
after mailing, please advise the transfer agent of

your new address or change of name, Write to them

directly at the following address:

Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
P0. Box 43010

Pravidence, Rhode Island 02940-3010
Or call, 1.800.733.5001
www.computershare.com/equiserve

Shareholders

There were approximately 4,000 recard holders of Equity
Residential common shares on January 31, 2007. The num-
ber of outstanding comman shares as of January 31, 2007
was 294,015,767.

Form 10-K Availability

Requests for Equity Residential's Ferm 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and any other
inguiries from individuals and institutional investors
should be directed to:

Martin J. McKenna

Assistant Vice President-Investor and Public Relations
Equity Residential

Two North Riverside Plaza

Chicago, lllinois 60606

Phone: 1.888.879.6356

Email: InvestorRelations@eqrworld.com

The SEC also maintains a website that contains reports,
proxy information and statements, and other informa-
tion regarding registrants that file electronically with the
Cammission. The website address is: www sec.gov,

Equity Residential has included as Exhibits 31.1 and
31.2 to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year
2006 filed with the SEC certificates of Equity Residential’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
certifying the quality of the company’s public disclosure.
Equity Residential’s Chief Executive Officer has also
submitted to the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)

a certificate certifying that he is not aware of any
violations by Equity Residential of the NYSE corporate
governance listing standards.

Common Share Market Prices and Dividends

Equity Residential’s common shares are listed on the

Mew York Stock Exchange {NYSE), ticker symbol EQR. The
high, low and closing sales prices on the NYSE and the
distributions paid for the past two years were as follows:

Dividend
2006 High Low Close Paid
Fourth Quarter $61.50 $49.42 $50.75 $0.4625
Third Quarter  $51.35  $44.04 $50.58 $0.4425
Second Quarter $47.47 $4145 §44.73  $0.4425
First Quarter $47.74 $3B.84 $46.79 504425

Dividend
2005 High Low Close Paid
Fourth Quarter %4217 53552 539.12 50.4425
Third Quarter  340.74 53635 $37.85 $0.4325
Second Quarter $37.57 $31.50 $36.82 $0.4325
First Quarter $36.37  $30.70 53221 $0.4325

Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan
Equity Residential offers a Dividend Reinvestment and
Share Purchase Plan. For an information packet, including
the plan prospectus and enrcliment form, please call

the Plan Administrator, Computershare, at 1.800.337.5666.
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

Two North Riverside Ptaza
Chicago, lllinois 60606

3124743300

www.equityresidential.com
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